
ANNUAL REPORT
2008-2009

Office Of the AuditOr GenerAl Western AustrAliA

Contents | FoRWARD



2  |  Auditor General Western Australia  |  ANNUAL REPORT 2008–2009

this RepoRt describes the functions and operations of the Office of the Auditor 
General and presents the audited financial statements and performance indicators for 
the Office for the year ended 30 June 2009. It is not a report on the results of audits 
conducted, as this information is tabled in Parliament separately.

When reading the report readers should be aware that the desired outcome the Office 
seeks is an informed Parliament on public sector accountability and performance.

Office Of the AuditOr GenerAl Western AustrAliA
4th Floor, Dumas House

2 Havelock Street

West Perth   WA   6005

t: 08 9222 7500

f: 08 9322 5664

e: info@audit.wa.gov.au

W: www.audit.wa.gov.au

National Relay Service TTY: 13 36 77 
(to assist persons with hearing and voice impairment)

On request this report may be made available in an alternative format for those with 
visual impairment.

© 2009 Office of the Auditor General Western Australia. All rights reserved. This material may be reproduced in 
whole or in part provided the source is acknowledged.

the President  the sPeAKer  
leGislAtiVe cOuncil leGislAtiVe AsseMBlY

AnnuAl rePOrt Of the Office Of the AuditOr GenerAl fOr the YeAr 
ended 30 June 2009 

In accordance with section 63, as modified by Schedule 3, of the Financial 
Management Act 2006, I hereby submit to Parliament for its information the 
Annual Report of the Office of the Auditor General for the year ended 30 June 
2009.

The annual report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the 
Financial Management Act 2006 and the Auditor General Act 2006.

COLIN MURPHY 
AUDITOR GENERAL 
27 August 2009
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AuditOr GenerAl’s OvervieW

introduction
The 2008-09 year was one of new challenges and increased 
pressure across the Office. Policies introduced as a result of 
the change of state government, the impact of the global 
financial crisis and continuing changes to auditing and 
accounting standards have all combined to increase the 
complexities and volume of work undertaken by this Office.

The Office of the Auditor General, in our independent 
watchdog role, reports directly to the Parliament, not to the 
government or a Minister. A change of government does not 
materially affect our operational or policy agenda. However, 
it has given rise to a number of agency restructures and 
these changes impact on our work in conducting financial 
statement, key performance indicator and controls audits for 
those agencies.

A major initiative of the government this year was the drive 
to achieve savings through improved public sector efficiency. 
Efficiency dividends across the sector have the potential 

to reduce or impact upon the service level of ‘back-office’ 
functions within agencies. In preparing our audit program, 
we considered the need to increase our focus on financial 
and information systems controls and reporting practices to 
ensure these have not been compromised as a result of the 
budget adjustments. 

Other government initiatives introduced this year include 
economic stimulus and regional support packages. 
Significant levels of Federal funding will be distributed to 
regional governments and community groups for capital 
expenditure initiatives across Western Australia. State 
government agencies will be a major conduit for this funding. 
It is expected that we will provide some assurance over the 
transparency and governance arrangements for elements of 
this expenditure. We will also consider whether probity and 
effectiveness matters are adequately addressed.

We have already encountered effects of the global financial 
crisis when reviewing some agencies. Providing assurance 
on the appropriate valuation, recognition and transparent 
reporting of investments will be a major undertaking of this 
Office over the next 12 months. The recoverability of debtors, 
a heightened risk of fraud and the appropriate recording of 
assets will also require greater attention.

My Office faces a range of new and interesting challenges 
each year. Our capacity to improve efficiency and maintain 
quality in serving the public interest, is paramount. In a year 
of exceptional challenges, our culture of adaptability has 
enabled us to achieve creditable results.

financial Audits
The Office achieved an excellent 99.4 per cent success rate 
in completing the audits of agency financial statements 
and performance indicators in time for Ministers to meet 
the legislated deadline for tabling of annual reports. In total, 
203 audit opinions were issued. Three agencies received a 
qualified opinion. 

As a result of the 2007-08 audit program, we identified 
a significant increase in the number of financial and 
information system control weaknesses. Most commonly 
these were in security, business continuity planning and 
change control operations. Seventy-four agencies had 
significant and/or moderate financial management control 
weaknesses and 352 issues were identified – a 34 per cent 
increase over the previous year. These issues will continue to 
be a major focus area for our audit teams.

Performance examinations
We undertook comprehensive examinations of government 
activities through our 15 compliance and controls and 
performance examinations. These reports identify matters of 
significance and make recommendations that aim to improve 
public sector performance. Our independent and forthright 
reports tabled in Parliament assist agencies to improve the 
cost effectiveness, efficiency and responsiveness of their 
services. 
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Our focus continues to be delivering reports to Parliament 
that are useful, relevant and timely in addressing issues critical 
to the sector and the wider community. The reports help 
improve community confidence in a public sector that is 
subject to independent watchdog scrutiny.

Further information and details about reports tabled this year 
are contained later in this report.

special investigations and enquiries
Our independence means we are seen by the Parliament and 
the public as a reliable mechanism for undertaking objective 
and credible investigations of matters referred to us relating 
to the public sector.

This year we received 58 complaints, enquiries or suggestions 
from members of the public and 11 from Members of 
Parliament. These mostly related to funding, human resource 
management and government procedures.

I consider the complaints, enquiries and requests for special 
investigations as a key source of information for my Office. I 
welcome the opportunities they provide and the insight into 
areas of concern. 

resourcing the Office
The implementation of the state government’s three per 
cent efficiency dividend, mandated across the public sector, 
received significant attention and discussion this year. 

Our independence is enshrined in the Auditor General Act 
2006. The Act makes provision for a Joint Standing Committee 
on Audit to make recommendations to the Treasurer 

regarding our budget, organisational structure and resources. 
The committee is yet to be established, so discussions relating 
to our budget and the efficiency dividend were held with 
the Public Accounts Committee in the Legislative Assembly 
and the Estimates and Financial Operations Committee in 
the Legislative Council. I appreciate the support of these 
committees and their willingness to discuss this issue and its 
implications for the Office. 

In spite of the growing challenges, my Office remains 
committed to efficiency in the use of public funds. I will 
continue to pursue initiatives in all aspects of our operations 
in order to reduce the cost of public sector audit. 

Managing the Office
Staff attrition has previously been a serious management 
issue for my Office but I am pleased to report a significantly 
lower attrition rate this year (12 per cent) than last year (33 
per cent). A range of initiatives have contributed to this and 
these are further discussed later in the report. 

A major focus for my Office this year has been professional 
development. We introduced an in-house program, 
involving regular training seminars relevant to the Office’s 
objectives. The program includes internal presentations and 
external resources and expertise to provide developmental 
opportunities to all staff.

Fostering a cohesive and informed workforce is an ongoing 
objective. We have launched a new office intranet to 
provide an interactive environment for work collaboration, 
communication and resourcing.

I was also pleased this year to finalise the recruitment process 
for four Assistant Auditor General and other management 
positions, further strengthening our leadership capabilities.

Acknowledgements
I would like to acknowledge the hard work and 
resourcefulness of the staff and the executive team that 
helped steer their divisions through a very busy and 
constantly changing year in 2008-09. Their dedication and 
desire to contribute to this Office, our Mission and our 
objectives is respected and appreciated.

I also recognise the strong working relationship I share with 
the Integrity Coordinating Group – comprising the Public 
Sector Standards Commissioner, the Ombudsman and the 
Corruption and Crime Commissioner.

Finally, I would like to thank our key clients – the Parliament 
of Western Australia and within it the Public Accounts 
Committee and the Estimates and Financial Operations 
Committee – for their cooperation and continued support 
throughout the year.

COLIN MURPHY
AUDITOR GENERAL

AuditOr GenerAl’s OvervieW
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rePOrts tAbled
n two financial audit results reports

n three public sector performance reports containing the 
results of eight compliance and controls examinations

n one information systems audit report containing the 
results of two audits

n five performance examination reports.

QuAlity With efficiency
In 2008-09 our focus has been ‘Quality with Efficiency’. We 
have introduced a range of new initiatives to help us achieve 
greater quality and efficiency in our audit program across the 
entire Office.

Driven by the Standards and Quality Division, these initiatives 
have been readily adopted by our staff. They have shown a 
keen desire and commitment across all divisions to take on 
this focus and apply it to our activities.

Communicating to staff the importance of working together 
to achieve quality with efficiency has been most important 
and we look forward to some significant benefits in the short 
and long term from this initiative.

QuAlity AssurAnce frAMeWOrk
In October 2008 we adopted the Australasian Council of 
Auditors-General (ACAG) ‘Self Assessment and External 
Review Framework’ as the primary means to identify, measure 
and compare improvement opportunities. This framework 
was developed from a range of assessment systems. It 
includes a conceptual framework supported by sets of 
graded standards, based on client expectations and legislative 

requirements, against which to measure performance. It 
embraces not only audit functions and divisions, but all 
activities of the business, including corporate services. 

We have adopted a cyclical approach to ‘self-assessing’ 
ourselves under this ACAG QA Framework. The results to date 
reflect improvement across a range of audit and non-audit 
office functions. Importantly, the QA Framework is working 
as a platform to implement and integrate continuous 
improvement and best practice within the Office. During 
2009-10 we will have the Office further assessed against the 
QA Framework through an external peer review conducted 
and coordinated by ACAG.

PrOfessiOnAl develOPMent
This year we introduced a comprehensive professional 
development program carefully targeted to the needs of the 
Office. Staff input has been valuable in both the selection of 
subject matter and sharing knowledge through presenting 
the development sessions. The program included a range 
of technical topics and governance, ethics and policy. A full 
program will continue in 2009-10.

Audit MethOdOlOGy
The methodology used by our auditors drives our core 
business. Preliminary research was undertaken this year with 
a view to replacing our current financial audit methodology 
in 2009-10.

A Technical Reference Group (comprising representation from 
our Assurance Services and Standards and Quality divisions) 
is exploring the suitability of IPSAM methodology used by the 
public sector audit offices in Victoria, Queensland, Tasmania 
and the ACT.

IPSAM is a public sector specific audit methodology that 
provides opportunities for long-term efficiency gains and we 
hope to start pilot testing with a view to implementing the 
new methodology in 2009-10.

seniOr stAff chAnGes
n	Professor David Gilchrist – Assistant Auditor General, 

Standards and Quality Division.

n	Sadie Godfrey – Assistant Auditor General, Strategy, Policy 
and Corporate Services Division.

n	Colin Campbell – Assistant Auditor General, Compliance 
and Information Systems Division.

n	Don Cunninghame – Assistant Auditor General Assurance 
Services Division.

In addition, Jason Beeley commenced, on an acting basis, in 
the position of Assistant Auditor General, Performance Review 
Division.

AustrAlAsiAn rePOrtinG AWArds 2008
Reporting, and the annual report especially, is an essential 
mechanism of accountability and a vital element in 
communicating our purpose and performance throughout 
the year.

The Australasian Reporting Awards (ARA) provide an 
opportunity for private and public sector organisations to 
benchmark their annual reports against world’s best practice 
criteria. This year we were pleased to receive a bronze ARA 
award for our 2007-08 annual report.

hiGhliGhts 2008-09
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siGnificAnt issues And trends

WeAknesses in AGency MAnAGeMent 
cOntrOls
As a result of the 2007-08 audit program, the Office identified 
a significant increase in the total number of financial and 
information system control weaknesses within agencies. This 
trend reflected a decline in the overall management control 
environment and reinforced our commitment to maintaining 
even stronger audit review and liaison with agencies in the 
coming years.

tertiAry institutiOn investMents
Our 2008-09 audit of public universities found that values of 
these institutions’ investment portfolios had declined sharply 
in the wake of the global financial crisis. We will plan to focus 
even greater attention on the financial audits of entities with 
financial market exposure over the next 12 months. Related 
issues, such as the recoverability of debtors, heightened risk, 
of fraud and valuation of assets, will also attract closer scrutiny 
in the audit process.

GOvernMent’s efficiency drive
As agencies strive to achieve the government’s mandated 
three per cent budget reductions, there is potential for ‘back-
office’ functions to be reduced. Auditors will need to consider 
whether such reductions have compromised controls and 
reporting practices. This scenario presents a challenge to 
our financial audit program as well as our compliance and 
controls examinations. 

incOMinG GOvernMent And AGency 
restructures
Following the 2008 state election, the incoming government’s 
program of public sector reform led to the creation of a 
number of new agencies and the abolition of others. Such 
situations create additional audit work, resulting from the 
many financial reporting and performance measurement 
changes that occur when agencies are restructured.

‘fOllOWinG the dOllAr’
The government’s Royalties for Regions program, launched in 
late 2008, provides for a substantial amount of funding to be 
distributed through state government agencies to regional 
local governments and not-for-profit and community groups. 
Under Sections 17 and 18 of the Auditor General Act 2006, 
the Auditor General has powers to investigate any matters 
relating to public moneys such as ascertaining whether 
moneys were spent in accordance with the purpose of a 
grant. The Office expects to exercise its powers under both 
sections of the Act in the 2009-10 financial year and beyond. 

Similarly, significant levels of funding were disbursed through 
the Commonwealth Government’s stimulus package 
program, targeting schools and infrastructure. This will also be 
channelled through state government agencies. The Office 
expects to work with the Australian National Audit Office to 
provide some assurance that these funds are being disbursed 
in a transparent and appropriate manner.
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WhO We Are 
The Auditor General for Western Australia, Mr Colin Murphy, 
is a statutory officer with responsibility for auditing the 
state public sector. The Auditor General is appointed by the 
Governor for a non-renewable term of 10 years. 

The Office of the Auditor General does not report to a 
responsible Minister. The Auditor General reports directly to 
Parliament and ultimately the people of Western Australia. 
This independence is the cornerstone of public sector audit. 
The Auditor General must be free from pressure, influence 
or interference from any source that may erode that 
independence.

Colin Murphy is the Accountable Authority and Chief 
Executive Officer of the Office of the Auditor General. Subject 
to the Auditor General Act 2006 and other written laws, 
Mr Murphy has complete discretion in the performance of his 
functions.

WhAt We dO
The Auditor General is responsible for:

n auditing the Annual Report on State Finances

n	conducting audits of financial statements, controls and 
key performance indicators for departments, statutory 
authorities, tertiary institutions and corporatised public 
sector entities.

n	conducting performance examinations and compliance, 
controls and information system audits to ensure there 
are adequate controls within agencies; compliance with 
relevant legislation; and, most importantly, efficiency, 
effectiveness and economy of agency operations or 
programs

n	reporting the results of audits to Parliament in an 
objective, competent, insightful and timely manner.

The Office of the Auditor General’s corporate focus continued 
to be driven by the public sector environment in which we 
operate. In 2008–09 we conducted annual financial statement 
audits of:

n	36 government departments

n	104 statutory authorities 

n	15 corporate bodies

n	four universities, their 10 subsidiaries and 10 TAFE colleges

n	seven entities as requested by the Treasurer, 10 agency 
subsidiaries and six cemetery boards 

n	the Annual Report on State Finances for whole-of-
government.

Detailed information in respect of our tabled reports is 
available at pages 18 to 21 of this report.

Our PurPOse
Serving the Public Interest.

Our MissiOn
To serve the public interest by providing Parliament with 
independent and impartial information regarding public 
sector accountability and performance.

Our vAlues
Our operations and professional relationships are built on 
the foundation of independence exercised with integrity and 
objectivity. In achieving our purpose of ‘serving the public 
interest’, we will act in regard to the following values:

n	Integrity – we conduct our business in an independent, 
professional and ethical manner and take an open, honest 
and fair approach to our stakeholders

n	Quality – we improve the performance of the Office and 
the public sector by working together to manage our 
resources, our people and our relationships

n	People – we respect and value the contribution of our 
people and encourage a cooperative approach to how 
things get done

AbOut the Office Of the AuditOr GenerAl
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enAblinG leGislAtiOn
The Auditor General is appointed by the Governor under the 
Auditor General Act 2006 (AG Act).

The Office of the Auditor General (the Office) is established 
as a department of the public service under the Public Sector 
Management Act 1994.

As the Accountable Authority, the Auditor General must 
discharge responsibilities under the Financial Management 
Act 2006.

key leGislAtiOn AffectinG the 
Office’s Activities
In performing its functions, the Office complies with the 
following relevant laws:

n	Auditor General Act 2006

n	Contaminated Sites Act 2003

n	Corporations (Commonwealth) Act 2001

n	Corporations (Western Australia) Act 1990

n	Corruption and Crime Commission Act 2003

n	Disability Services Act 1993

n	Electronic Transactions Act 2003

n	Electoral Act 1907

n	Equal Opportunity Act 1984

n	Financial Management Act 2006

n	Corporations (Western Australia) Act 1990 (Corporations Law)

n	Industrial Relations Act 1979

n	Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1993

n	Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984

n	Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003

n	Public Sector Management Act 1994

n	Salaries and Allowances Act 1975

n	State Records Act 2000

n	State Supply Commission Act 1991

The following laws have some impact on the Office’s 
activities:

n	Constitution Act 1889 and Constitution Acts Amendment Act 
1899

n	Treasurer’s Advance Authorisation, Supply, Loan and 
Appropriation Acts and Financial Agreement Acts

n	Interpretation Act 1984

n	Laws affecting agencies and activities subject to audit by 
the Auditor General.

AbOut the Office Of the AuditOr GenerAl
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AbOut the Office Of the AuditOr GenerAl

OrGAnisAtiOnAl And divisiOnAl Activities chArt

AuDitoR GeneRAl
Colin Murphy

Deputy 
AuDitoR GeneRAl

Glen Clarke

AssistAnt  
AuditOr GenerAl
Don Cunninghame

AssistAnt  
AuditOr GenerAl

Jason Beeley (Acting)

AssistAnt  
AuditOr GenerAl

Colin Campbell

AssistAnt  
AuditOr GenerAl

David Gilchrist

AssistAnt  
AuditOr GenerAl

Sadie Godfrey

conducts financial 
statement and controls 

audits, performance 
indicator audits and 
issues audit opinions

conducts examinations 
into the efficiency and 
effectiveness of public 

sector agencies and 
programs and agency 

performance

conducts controls and 
compliance examinations 
and information systems 

audits

AssuRAnCe seRviCes 
Division

peRFoRmAnCe RevieW 
Division

CompliAnCe AnD is 
Division

stAnDARDs AnD 
QuAlity Division

stRAteGy, poliCy AnD 
CoRpoRAte seRviCes

provides the Auditor 
General with confidence 

that the operational 
divisions of the Office are 
complying with internal 

and professional standards; 
develops strategies to 

enhance office capacity

functions:
Professional Standards

Professional Development
Performance Indicator 

Standards
Quality Assurance

External Body Liaison

contributes to building 
and maintaining a 

leading edge audit office 
by providing efficient 

and effective corporate 
support services

functions:
Communications

Financial and 
Administrative Services

Human Resources
Information Resources

Policy

These activities result in rePOrts tO PArliAMent

that identify MAtters Of siGnificAnce
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dOn cunninGhAMe – BCom, FCPA, 
CISA. Don is a Fellow of CPA Australia and 
a Certified Information Systems Auditor. 
He has experience in finance, internal 
and external audit including information 
systems auditing in the private and 
public sectors, internationally and in 
Australia. 

dAVid Gilchrist – BA BBus CPA 
FAICD. David has held CEO, CFO 
and board roles in government, 
commerce and the not-for-profit 
sector. He is a CPA and Fellow of 
the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors. Prior to joining the Office 
in 2008, David was Associate Dean 
of the School of Business at the 

University of Notre Dame Australia where he taught after 
returning from a teaching role at the London School of 
Economics.

cOlin MurPhY – B Comm, FCPA. 
Colin Murphy was appointed as 
Auditor General in June 2007. 
Prior to taking up his current role, 
Colin acted as Under Treasurer 
and then as Director General for 
the Department of Justice and 
the Department of the Attorney 
General in Western Australia. He 

has held senior positions in the Department of Treasury and 
Finance, the Department of Land Administration and the 
Building Management Authority. Colin also has extensive 
experience in finance and administration in Commonwealth 
Government roles. He has previously worked for the 
Commonwealth Department of Finance in Perth and in 
Washington DC and as Business Manager for Murdoch 
University. Colin is a member of the Australian Auditing 
and Assurance Standards Board. He holds a Bachelor of 
Commerce degree from the University of Western Australia. 
He is a Fellow, former Board member and past State 
President of CPA Australia

JAsOn BeeleY – BA Hons (Oxon), 
Dip Strategic Studies. Jason is Acting 
Assistant Auditor General Performance 
Review. He joined the Office of the 
Auditor General WA in 2006, following 
five years as a commercial and general 
manager in the defence and technology 
sectors. Jason previously worked for 
eight years with the UK National Audit 

Office in London, conducting and managing value-for-money 
studies, mainly of the Ministry of Defence

cOlin cAMPBell – BSc Ag Econs, 
MSc NRM. Colin has a Bachelor of 
Science in Agricultural Economics and 
a Masters Degree in Natural Resource 
Management. Colin worked as a Natural 
Resource Economist before joining the 
WA Office of the Auditor General in 
2002. He completed a year long work 
exchange with the Commissioner for 

Environment and Sustainable Development within the Canadian 
Office of the Auditor General in 2006 and is currently Assistant 
Auditor General for the Compliance and Information Systems 
Division.

sAdie GOdfreY – MBA (Curtin), 
Assoc Dip Bus (Accounting). 
Sadie has diverse and extensive 
experience in corporate 
management, working in the 
areas of education and industrial 
relations. She was previously 
Director of Corporate Services at 
the Department of the Registrar, 

Western Australian Industrial Relations Commission. Sadie 
was appointed to the position of Assistant Auditor General, 
Strategy, Policy and Corporate Services in 2008.

Glen clArKe – B Bus, FCPA. As 
Deputy Auditor General, Glen is 
responsible for the three operational 
audit divisions of the Office. Glen 
is also a board member of Bizlink, 
a not-for-profit organisation that 
assists people with disabilities to 
obtain open employment. 

seniOr Officers

AbOut the Office Of the AuditOr GenerAl
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rePOrt AGAinst the OutcOMe bAsed 
MAnAGeMent frAMeWOrk
The Office of the Auditor General’s outcome based 
management framework is consistent with the government 
goal for financial and economic responsibilities as below:

Government Goal Desired 
outcome service

financial and economic 
responsibility 

‘Responsibly managing the 
state’s finances through the 
efficient and effective delivery 
of services, encouraging 
economic activity and reducing 
regulatory burdens on the 
private sector’.

An informed 
Parliament on 
public sector 

accountability 
and 

performance

Performance 
auditing

table 2

In performing its stated service (performance auditing), the 
Office tabled in Parliament:

n	two financial audit results reports

n	three public sector performance reports containing the 
results of eight compliance and controls examinations

n	one information systems audit report containing the 
results of two audits. This was the first time an information 
systems report has been tabled as a stand-alone report

n	five performance examination reports.

AbOut the Office Of the AuditOr GenerAl

OrGAnisAtiOnAl strAteGies
To fulfil the Office of the Auditor General’s purpose of Serving the Public Interest, the Office independently informs Parliament on 
public sector accountability and performance and thereby contributes to a better performing public sector. Strategies to achieve 
this purpose are:

Reporting on public 
sector performance 
in a relevant and 
authoritative manner, 
through:

effectively 
communicating with 
parliament, the public 
sector and the wider 
community, through:

providing timely 
information and advice 
to the Auditor General 
to effectively fulfil his 
watchdog role, through:

Building a leading edge 
organisation, through:

Continually working 
to increase the quality 
of reports delivered to 
Parliament.

Achieving a timely spread 
of reporting across the year 
– delivering what we said 
we would, when we said we 
would.

Continuing to strengthen 
the cycle of internal quality 
and review procedures, 
through challenge review, 
post-project review, quality 
assurance and external 
review as required.

Strengthening focus 
on agency relationship 
management.

Strengthening focus on 
parliamentary service 
including maintenance of 
the parliamentary survey and 
broadening liaison activities.

Continuing to expand 
delivery of information 
through e-communications 
to reach a broader 
community.

Re-engineering assurance 
business processes to 
improve timeliness.

Shifting the emphasis from 
audit opinions to matters of 
significance by increasing 
the quality and quantity of 
analysis.

Increasing the timeliness 
and relevance of advice 
to the Auditor General 
by leveraging stronger 
external relationships and an 
enhanced national profile.

Reviewing Office key 
performance indicators to 
improve robustness and 
ensure ongoing relevance.

Focusing human resource 
planning and services 
on improving capacity, 
performance and 
professional development.

Committing to an office-
wide focus on knowledge 
management through a 
range of major information 
initiatives.

table1
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Our PerfOrMAnce

finAnciAl PerfOrMAnce

2008-09
target 
$000

2008-09
Actual
$000

variation
$000

Total cost of services (expense limit)
(sourced from Income Statement)

17 137 17 832 695

Net cost of services
(sourced from Income Statement)

17 117 17 759 642

Total equity
(sourced from Balance Sheet)

1 525 1 322 (203)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held
(sourced from Cash Flow Statement)

(77) (250) (173)

number number number

Approved full-time equivalent (FTE) staff level 102 101 (1)
table 3

The size, legislated function and professional obligations of this Office necessitate a cost 
structure that is dominated by fixed costs and staff and audit contractor expenses. 

The increase in cost of services is attributed to expense associated with undertaking additional 
audit work. Supplementary funding was provided for this additional expense and the 
corresponding revenue received for this work was returned to the Consolidated Account 
resulting in a nil impact to government finances.

The variation in equity is mainly due to a change in the asset recognition threshold in 
accordance with the Treasurer’s instructions. The decrease in cash held is largely due to 
payments for capital projects in 2008-09 for which funding was received in the prior year.

Further explanations are contained in note 31 ‘Explanatory Statement’ to the financial 
statements on page 52 to 53 of this report.

finAnciAl AuditinG 

introduction
Each year the Auditor General considers agencies’ annual financial statements, key 
performance indicators and management controls in place. The financial and key performance 
indicator information is reported by agencies in accordance with the Financial Management 
Act 2006. In every instance, the Auditor General provides three opinions for each agency. 
An assurance opinion is provided with regard to the financial information disclosed and an 
opinion is provided regarding the effectiveness of the controls in place in the agency. The third 
opinion relates to each agency’s key performance indicators. The Auditor General audits key 
performance indicator information disclosed by each agency to make an opinion as to whether 
that information is fairly presented and whether the key performance indicators used are 
relevant and appropriate.

results for 2008-09
Audit opinions issued 2008-09
Annual Report on State Finances 1
Parliamentary departments 3
Government departments 33
Statutory authorities 101
Universities and TAFE colleges (statutory authorities) 14
Superannuation funds (statutory authorities) 3
Corporatised entities 15
Cemetery boards 6
Subsidiary entities 20
Request audits 7

table 4

A complete list of agencies subject to audit is on pages 64 to 65 of this report.
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finAnciAl AuditinG (cOntinued) 

Output

output – Financial Audits What we achieved?

Table Audit Reports in Parliament 2

Audit Opinions issued to Ministers/Agencies 203

table 5

timeliness

What we set out to do What we achieved

Issue 203 audit opinions in time for agencies’ annual reports 
to be tabled within 90 days

99.4% of 2008 opinions were 
issued in time

table 6

PerfOrMAnce AuditinG

introduction
The Auditor General tables in Parliament a range of reports addressing issues of parliamentary 
and community interest. These include two types of performance audit reports:

n	Performance Examinations – These provide Parliament with information and analyses of 
public sector programs and operational performance. Performance examinations do not 
focus on government objectives but rather on whether the objectives have been met with 
efficiency and effectiveness.

n	Control, Compliance and Accountability Examinations – These provide information about 
government agency compliance with legislation, public sector policies and good practice.

Our reports do not just illustrate areas where performance can improve. They also identify and 
highlight examples of good practice areas. This is important as it provides guidance for other 
public sector agencies that may need to improve in similar areas.

Our PerfOrMAnce
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key efficiency Performance indicators
Matters of significance are the ‘key messages’ in our reports. ‘Key messages’ are defined as 
the issues a general parliamentary reader would take away from the report after the detail of 
specific findings and recommendations has receded into the background.

‘Major audits’ are defined as those involving a significant audit effort, agencies with a central 
coordinating role and/or agencies with operational sensitivity. These agencies are responsible 
for approximately 96 per cent of state assets. ‘Other audits’ are defined as the remaining smaller, 
less complex and/or sensitive audits. 

Full information regarding our efficiency and effectiveness indicators is contained at pages 58 
to 59 of this report.

efficiency 2005-06 
Actual 

$

2006-07 
Actual 

$

2007-08 
Actual 

$

2008-09 
target 

$

2008-09 
Actual 

$

Average cost per matter of 
significance

29 600 32 522 47 750 51 665 41 580

Average cost per major audit 134 979 137 039 154 352 163 101 162 768

Average cost per other audit 23 192 25 646 27 349 27 987 30 389

table 7

key effectiveness Performance indicators
We seek feedback from our stakeholders to indicate whether we:

n	effectively achieve our objectives

n	conduct our audits in line with best practice

n	choose appropriate topics

n	report our findings to Parliament in a clear and concise manner.

We measure our performance in these areas in various ways including:

n	surveying Members of Parliament and audit clients

n	benchmarking with members of the Australasian Council of Auditors-General (ACAG)

n	tracking media interest in our reports

n	tracking number of reports downloaded from our website

n	internal auditing and self-assessment and peer review processes.

survey of members of parliament 2005-06 
Actual 

%

2006-07 
Actual 

%

2007-08 
Actual 

%

2008-09 
target 

%

2008-09 
Actual 

%
The Office of the Auditor General is 
effective in achieving its desired outcome 
of informing Parliament on public sector 
accountability and performance of the 
public sector

92 78 90 80 91

Reports dealt with matters of significance 
to Parliament

85 89 94 90 93

Services and reports of the Office of the 
Auditor General are useful to Parliament

89 89 90 90 91

table 8

Our PerfOrMAnce
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Our PerfOrMAnce

PerfOrMAnce AuditinG (cOntinued)

Output
The indicators set out in this table are not audited. They are included in this annual report 
because they are:

n	included in the Office’s strategic plan

n	considered important to assist in understanding the Office’s operational performance.

output – parliamentary Reports What we 
achieved?

Comments

Report 100 matters of significance to Parliament 108 Target exceeded

Table 6 to 8 stand-alone and follow-up performance 
examination reports in Parliament during the year

5 Target not met

Table 10 to 12 control, compliance and accountability 
examinations in Parliament during the year.

10 Target met

Table 2 reports to Parliament on the results of financial 
statements and controls and performance indicator audits, 
undertaken during the year

2 Target met

table  9

We did not table the number of reports that we anticipated, due to the complexity of the 
performance examinations that were undertaken. However, the number of matters of 
significance in these reports were in excess of the number anticipated.

sPeciAl investiGAtiOns, cOMPlAints And Public interest 
disclOsures

introduction
The Office of the Auditor General responds to complaints and enquiries from Members of 
Parliament and members of the public. Complaints usually relate to concerns about the actions 
of a public sector agency or management of public resources.

In consideration of the Auditor General’s independence, we have systems and standards in 
place to ensure that a decision to investigate a matter is made with proper consideration of the 
relative merit of an investigation. 

Our investigations are conducted in an objective and ethical manner, with full regard to 
confidentiality, and in accordance with our normal examination processes.

special investigations
We define a special investigation as work that arises outside our normal topic identification 
and selection processes. Special investigations are typically referred to us from one of the other 
integrity agencies such as the Corruption and Crime Commission. This work can take priority 
depending on the nature of the matter requiring investigation.

The Office completed one special investigation. We reported in the Second Public Sector 
Performance 2008: Traffic Infringements on a special investigation that arose from a complaint 
referral from a government agency.

Public interest disclosures
We also receive Public Interest Disclosures (PIDs). The Office is one of a number of 
accountability agencies under the Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003 to whom people can make 
disclosures. Key executive members are authorised PID Officers and have received appropriate 
training to manage disclosures effectively.
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In 2008-09, the Office registered two new PIDs. The investigation of one of these PIDs was 
completed during the year.

To date, no PID investigation has resulted in a report to Parliament. Nevertheless, our PID 
investigations generally lead to some recommendations being made to agencies to improve 
their procedures or controls.

There have been no discernible trends or themes identified from registered PIDs.

piDs Registered* 2003-04 2004-05 2005-06 2006-07 2007-08 2008-09

By year 4 1 4 1 1 2

Total to 30 June 2009 4 5 9 10 11 13

table 10
* Registered PIDs refers to PIDs registered with the Office of the Public Sector Standards Commissioner 
and completed in a financial year. Investigation of PIDs may run over more than one financial year.

complaints and enquiries
The Office has a comprehensive management system that ensures members of the public 
receive a prompt response to complaints and enquiries.

Additionally, our complaints and enquiries system data is one of multiple sources of 
information that is used to assist in the selection of topics for performance examinations. 

Assessment of this data can result in the identification of performance issues within agencies or 
across the public sector in regards to the use of a public resource. 

Table 11 shows the trend in the number of complaints and enquiries referring to public sector 
agencies received. We received fewer complaints and enquiries from members of the public 
whilst the volume of complaints and enquiries made by Members of Parliament remains 
constant. The matters received from Members of Parliament related to eight government 
departments or agencies.

Complaints/enquiries Received 2005-06 2006-07 2007-08 2008-09

Members of the public 102 103 77 58

Members of Parliament 8 12 10 11

total 110 115 87 69

table 11

Matters raised are carefully processed through the Office’s complaints management system. 
Issues that can be examined by the Office, as per the Auditor General Act 2006, are considered 
during the examination topic selection process. During the year five complaints resulted in or 
contributed to examinations or assurance audits.

Many complaints we received during the year could not be considered for examination as they 
fell outside the Auditor General’s mandate. In these cases we referred the complainant to an 
agency that could be of assistance, such as the Parliamentary Commissioner for Administrative 
Investigations (Ombudsman).

A wide range of issues were brought to our attention under several broad themes:

n	funding and grants

n	human resource management

n	government procedures including contract management.

The average number of days taken to respond to complaints and enquiries was nine working 
days, with 74 per cent of all complaints and enquiries responded to within our target of 10 
working days.

Our PerfOrMAnce
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rePOrts tAbled in 2008-09

Improving Resource Project Approval  
Report 5: 7 October 2008

Since 2003, the State Government 
has invested $37.5 million in 
initiatives to help streamline the 
process for obtaining resource 
development approvals. However, in 
this performance audit, the Auditor 
General found that these initiatives 

had not delivered the anticipated improvements. 

He assessed the roles of the Department of Industry and 
Resources, Department of Environment and Conservation, 
Department of Indigenous Affairs, Department for Planning 
and Infrastructure and the Office of Development Approvals 
Coordination within the Department of the Premier and 
Cabinet. He made a number of recommendations to the 
agencies: that they should use data and management 
systems more effectively, introduce outcomes-based 
conditions to better manage workloads, use fees and charges 
to recover costs and develop proponent-focused guidance 
and training materials.

Audit Results – Assurance Audits 
Completed at 3 November 
2008 – Opinions on Ministerial 
Notifications 
Report 6: 12 November 2008

This report summarised the audit 
results of agencies with a financial 
year-end of 30 June 2008. In 

total, 171 audit opinions were issued. Two agencies, the 
Peel Development Commission and the Western Australian 
Alcohol and Drug Authority, received qualified audit opinions 
on controls and performance indicators respectively. 

Significant and/or moderate financial management control 
weaknesses were found in 74 agencies, representing a 
combined total of 352 issues – a 34 per cent increase over the 
previous year. The Office also found numerous weaknesses 
in information system (IS) controls, most commonly in 
security, business continuity planning, change control and IS 
operations. The need for improvement in key performance 
indicators was identified at 37 agencies, with most 
recommendations relating to the relevance of the indicators 
to agency outcomes and the need to report against targets. 
On a positive note, 51 agencies were rated as better practice 
agencies in 2008, compared with 40 in the previous year.

Responding to Changes in 
Attraction, Retention and 
Achievement in Vocational 
Education and Training 
Report 7: 12 November 2008

Over $500 million of public funds 
were spent on Vocational Education 
and Training (VET) in 2007, but 

the numbers participating in courses have been falling. 
The Department of Education and Training (DET) and the 
TAFE colleges do not actually know how many students 
successfully complete their courses, but last estimates show 
that only 16 per cent of students (outside of apprenticeship 
and traineeships) stay the course.

This report called on DET and TAFE colleges to focus more on 
student retention and achievement. DET’s funding of colleges 
is based upon specified hours of training – not the numbers 
of students who complete a module or course – and colleges 
retain their funding whether or not students stay the course. 
If colleges had to pay a refund for module withdrawals, in 
2007 it would have cost them nearly $22 million, almost $20 
million of it in Institutional Based Training (IBT). The report 
also recommended that DET should improve its information 
and reporting systems to enable accurate data on IBT course 
completion rates.
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Second Public Sector 
Performance Report 2008 
Report 8: 3 December 2008

Complaints Management in Shared 
Service Centres

In 2005, the State Government 
established three major shared 

services centres (SSCs) to provide corporate services to the 
WA public sector. This examination focused on how these 
three SSCs deal with complaints arising from their core 
business, and to what extent they are improving their services 
by learning from the complaints process. The report found 
that none of the agencies had developed clear processes and 
policies for handling complaints specific to their SSCs. 

Funding and Purchasing Health Services from Non-
Government and Not-For-Profit Organisations

The Department of Health is a major purchaser of services 
from non-government and not-for-profit organisations. In 
2006-07 the Department funded and purchased services 
valued at approximately $526 million from almost 400 
organisations. This report found that, although there had 
been improvements in the purchasing of services since a 
previous examination in 2003, some weaknesses still existed. 
For instance, over 75 per cent of funding arrangements 
examined were historical funding arrangements – 86 per 
cent of these without an evaluation of the provider against 
predetermined preferred criteria and without market testing.

Management of Traffic Infringements for Government 
Vehicles and Staff

Under the Road Traffic Act 1974, corporate vehicle owners, 
including government agencies, must nominate who was 
driving the vehicle at the time a traffic infringement is 
incurred, so that the responsible driver can be issued the 
appropriate infringement notice. This examination of 10 
agencies showed that the driver was not identified in 12 per 
cent of traffic infringements. However, the failure to identify 
the driver was found to be caused by a lack of central agency 
controls and a poorly designed traffic infringement form. No 
evidence was found of government employees deliberately 
attempting to avoid infringement penalties.

Public Sector Performance 
Report 2009 
Report 1: 1 April 2009

This first Public Sector Performance 
Report for 2009 brought to notice 
legislative compliance and control 
issues. The report included the 
following topics: 

Management of Water Resources in Western Australia –
Follow-up 

This examination was a follow-up to a previous report tabled 
in 2003. We found that the Department of Water had made 
good progress in addressing most of the issues raised in our 

2003 report, but there was still work to be done in some 
areas. In particular, the level of compliance monitoring had 
fallen by 60 per cent in the interim years.

Administration of the Metropolitan Region Scheme by the 
Department for Planning and Infrastructure 

On behalf of the Western Australian Planning Commission, 
the Department for Planning and Infrastructure is responsible 
for the day-to-day management of the Metropolitan Region 
Scheme. The scheme controls all private and public land use 
and property development within the metropolitan region. 
Our examination found that the department handled the 
amendments and purchases, sales and takings of land we 
sampled in a generally sound manner, but there were some 
weaknesses in underlying administrative foundations that 
could affect future performance.

Management of Fringe Benefits Tax.

The Fringe Benefits Tax (FBT) is a Commonwealth tax that 
employers pay each year on the value of fringe benefits 
given to their employees. Our examination of six agencies 
found that five of these were adequately managing their FBT 
responsibilities.

Our PerfOrMAnce
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Information Systems Audit 
Report 
Report 2: 8 April 2009

The first item of the report raised 
some issues of concern and is a 
‘wake-up’ call to all government 
agencies that handle personal 
and sensitive information. The 

second item, on general computer and application controls 
showed that many agencies were continuing to ignore 
the importance of effectively managing their information 
systems.

Audit Results Report – 
31 December 2008 Assurance 
Audits and other audits 
completed since 3 November 
2008 
Report 3: 6 May 2009

This report covered the audit of 
financial statements, controls and 

key performance indicators of agencies with a 31 December 
2008 reporting date. It also included the finalisation of other 
2008 audits not previously reported. This concluded reporting 
on the 2008 audit cycle.

Coming, Ready or Not: Preparing 
for Large-scale Emergencies 
Report 4: 20 May 2009

This report examined the state’s 
preparedness for emergencies 
and investigated whether there 
was an emergency management 
framework and plans in place 

to manage emergencies. We found that gaps existed in 
the implementation of Western Australia’s emergency 
management framework. These gaps included the 
identification of hazard management agencies and the 
hazards the state faces, and out-of-date emergency 
management plans. There had been no formal assessment of 
the state’s overall preparedness for large-scale emergencies. 
Agencies had not formally assessed their preparedness but 
considered that they have substantial operational experience, 
capability and capacity to respond to major emergencies. 

Rich and Rare: Conservation of 
Threatened Species  
Report 5: 10 June 2009

Western Australia is internationally 
recognised for its biodiversity. 
However, over 600 of our native 
species were listed as threatened 
with extinction. The Department 

of Environment and Conservation (DEC) undertakes 
conservation activities to identify, protect and recover 
threatened species. The report found that, in many areas, DEC 
was not effectively protecting and recovering threatened 
species. The number of threatened species is rising and 
only a few species are improving. Recovery action was not 
happening for most threatened species. The majority of 
resources and effort were allocated to critically endangered 
species, placing vulnerable and endangered species at risk of 
further decline. Much of DEC’s threatened species activities 
were not enabled by existing legislation and DEC has created 
policies to cover these gaps. 

rePOrts tAbled in 2008-09 (cOntinued)
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Maintaining the State Road 
Network  
Report 6: 17 June 2009

Main Roads is responsible for 
maintaining the 17 800 kms of 
freeways, highways and main 
roads and bridges on the state 
road network, valued at $35 

billion. Between 1999 and 2002, Main Roads contracted 
its road maintenance function through eight contracts, 
each lasting 10 years. The contracts aimed to achieve 
cost savings whilst maintaining road condition to agreed 
levels. We examined Main Roads’ maintenance of the roads 
with a focus on the condition of the state road network, 
the delivery of maintenance on the network, and the link 
between maintenance and safety related issues. We found 
the condition of the state road network has deteriorated 
since Main Roads contracted out its road maintenance. The 
contracts have not delivered adequate levels of planned 
maintenance and costs have increased. Addressing the 
overdue planned maintenance will be expensive and 
effectively targeting any restoration will be difficult. 

Second Public Sector 
Performance Report 2009 
Report 7: 25 June 2009

This second Public Sector 
Performance Report for 2009 
brought to notice legislative 
compliance and control issues. The 
report included the following topics: 

Dangerous Goods Safety 

The Dangerous Goods Safety Act 2004 and associated 
regulations came into effect in March 2008. We concluded 
that the Department of Mines and Petroleum has made 
much progress in implementing and managing the new 
legislation but detected weaknesses in some systems and 
practices, including the processing and renewal of licences 
and the information system used for managing compliance 
and inspection activities.

Compliance in Western Australia’s Commercial and 
Recreational Fisheries

This examination looked at the effectiveness of the 
Department of Fisheries commercial and recreational fishing 
compliance model. We found the Department’s compliance 
program and planning are not linked to a state-wide 
assessment of risk, and that its information systems do not 
support effective monitoring of compliance activities and 
results.

Our PerfOrMAnce
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Media interest in reports
While we do not seek media attention, media interest in our reports helps to raise awareness of our role and 
our work. To assist in accurate and complete reporting, the Office issues a media statement in conjunction with 
the tabling of a report.

tabling Date title media Coverage

7/10/2008 Improving Resource Project Approvals The West Australian, WA Business News, Kalgoorlie Miner, 
Geraldton Guardian, ABC Radio 720, ABC TV News, WIN TV 
News, WAtoday.com.au, Wabusinessnews.com.au

12/11/2008 Responding to Changes in Attraction, 
Retention and Achievement in 
Vocational Education and Training

WA Business News, ABC Radio 720, 96FM, 6PR
Triple J, Network 10 ABC Stateline, Abc.net.au

3/12/2008 Second Public Sector Performance 
Report 2008

The West Australian, ABC Radio 720

1/04/2009 Public Sector Performance Report 2009 The West Australian, Mix 94.5, 92.9FM

8/04/2009 Information Systems Audit Report The West Australian, ABC Radio 720, 96FM, 6PR, 94.5FM, 
92.9FM, Network 10

20/05/2009 Coming, Ready or Not: Preparing for 
Large-scale Emergencies

The West Australian, ABC Radio 720, 96FM, 6PR, Nova 
93.7FM, Mix 94.5, 92.9FM, Curtin FM, Network 10, ABC TV, 
WIN TV

10/06/2009 Rich and Rare: Conservation of 
Threatened Species

The West Australian, ABC TV, WIN TV, ABC Radio Goldfields, 
ABC Radio Geraldton, www.perthnow.com, South Western 
Times, Manjimup Bridgetown Times, Northern Guardian

17/06/2009 Maintaining the State Road Network The West Australian, ABC Radio 720, 94.5FM, Nova 93.7FM, 
6PR, 92.9FM, 96.1FM. Network 10, Channel 7 TV, Channel 
9 TV, GWN TV, WIN TV, ABC1 TV, ABC Radio Karratha, ABC 
Radio Geraldton, ABC Radio Goldfields, ABC Radio Bunbury, 
ABC Radio Broome, Pilbara News, Kalgoorlie Miner

25/06/2009 Second Public Sector Performance 
Report 2009

Dangerous Goods: ABC Radio 720, 94.5FM
Fisheries Compliance: ABC Radio 720, ABC Radio Geraldton, 
ABC Radio Goldfields

table 13

Public interest in reports
Website download statistics provide an indication of the degree of public 
interest in our reports. Table 12 below shows the number of downloads for 
each report tabled during 2008-09, from the date of tabling to the year end.

tabling 
Date

Report number of 
Downloads

7/10/2008 Improving Resource Project Approvals 1 167

12/11/2008
Audit Results – Assurance Audits completed 
at 3 November 2008 – Opinions of Ministerial 
Notifications

963

12/11/2008
Responding to Changes in Attraction, Retention 
and Achievement in Vocational Education and 
Training

3 330

3/12/2008 Second Public Sector Performance Report 2008 860

1/04/2009 Public Sector Performance Report 2009 1 280

8/04/2009 Information Systems Audit Report 4 105

7/05/2009
Audit Results Report 31 December 2008 
Assurance Audits and other audits completed 
since 3 November 2008

1 232

20/05/2009 Coming, Ready or Not: Preparing for Large-scale 
Emergencies 1 569

10/06/2009 Rich and Rare: Conservation of Threatened 
Species 2 227

17/06/2009 Maintaining the State Road Network 1 196

25/06/2009 Second Public Sector Performance Report 2009 513

table 12
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MAnAGinG Our Office

Our core business is reporting on how the public sector uses 
the resources entrusted to it. Therefore, it is imperative that 
we ensure our own activities are conducted with optimum 
efficiency and effectiveness.

In order to achieve this, we rely on the competence, 
dedication and enthusiasm of the Office’s workforce. We aim 
to be exemplary in the management of our people and their 
working conditions. We strive to provide an environment 
that supports our staff and encourages them in their role of 
meeting the desired outcomes of this Office.

Our PeOPle
At the start of the 2008-09 financial year, the Office, like many 
other employers, was facing the difficulties of a tight labour 
market and rising employee attrition rates. In response, 
we developed new recruitment and human resource 
management strategies to enhance our ability to attract and 
retain quality staff. 

Throughout the course of the year it has been encouraging 
to see an increase in the applicant pool for positions at our 
Office, and we welcome the opportunity to develop and 
strengthen our human capital and boost our employee 
retention capacity.

Personal and professional development are high priorities 
for this Office. We have in place a personal performance and 
review process, and have this year accentuated and refined 

our delivery of professional development for all staff. The 
application of these tools is discussed later in this section.

We are pleased to be able to offer a flexible and family-
friendly workplace and we continually seek opportunities to 
enhance our working environment.

eMPlOyees by divisiOn At June 2009

2008 2009
Auditor General Unit 6 7

Assurance Services Division 40 48.2

Compliance and Information Systems 
Division 14 14.5

Performance Review Division 17 13.1

Standards and Quality Division 4 6.9

Strategy, Policy and Corporate Services 
Division 25 18.3

total 106 108
table 14

The table above indicates an increase in staffing in the 
Assurance Services Division. This is a positive indication of our 
ability to retain staff, and in particular graduate auditors. This 
ability allows us to continue to develop younger entrants to 
our Office and benefit over the longer term from the training 
invested in these staff members.

Changes to staff numbers in other divisions are primarily 
due to Office restructures and a strategic approach to staff 
management across the Office.

stAff AttritiOn
The attrition rate, at 12 per cent, was markedly down from the 
previous year’s high of 33 per cent. Although external factors 
have partially contributed to this, it is also an encouraging 
indicator that our strategies to develop a positive working 
environment have resulted in an ability to retain and 
consolidate our workforce.

GrAduAte develOPMent PrOGrAM
The Office has an ongoing commitment to a graduate 
program that has enabled us to develop young people within 
the public sector.

Seven graduates commenced with the Office in February 
2009. All graduates received intensive training from senior 
staff from the Assurance Services Division. We select staff 
trainers with current auditing experience, so they could 
offer meaningful and relevant insights on the realities and 
challenges of today’s public sector environment in readiness 
for their role in the Office.

BACK | Contents | FoRWARD



24  |  Auditor General Western Australia  |  ANNUAL REPORT 2008–2009

During the year we were represented at graduate recruitment 
events held by CPA Australia and the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants in Australia (ICAA). 

We will soon commence our graduate recruitment process 
for 2010 and are actively seeking new and innovative 
approaches to ensure we attract the best candidates for this 
Office and for the public sector.

eMPlOyee PerfOrMAnce revieW And 
develOPMent PrOGrAM
The GROWTH performance management program, 
introduced last year, continued to be used to assist 
employees reach their full potential, maximise job satisfaction 
and identify career development opportunities.

The purpose of GROWTH is to:

n	provide a framework for reviewing performance against 
objectives and Office goals

n	provide clarity and direction to staff to contribute to a 
productive work environment

n	provide employees with the opportunity to identify any 
required areas of support

n	provide a framework for feedback between managers and 
staff

n	identify immediate learning needs and longer-term career 
development.

Employees in the Assurance Services Division took part in a 
more specialised performance management program linked 
to a skills acquisition matrix. The process is part of a career 
progression path based on acquisition of identified skill sets. 

The Corporate Executive actively supports performance 
review and development as a means for employees to 
receive meaningful, constructive and objective feedback and 
identify opportunities for specific professional and personal 
development. 

leArninG And develOPMent
In 2009 the Office embarked on an ambitious pathway to 
learning and development for the entire workforce, through 
a professional development program designed to make 
the most of our own staff expertise. The new in-house 
professional development program aims to deliver targeted, 
high quality professional development to enhance and build 
capabilities of staff. 

Professional development sessions are held each month 
and comprise a mix of technical subjects to meet the 
requirements of the various operational and corporate 
governance divisions. The sessions are held on site, allowing 
us to save on cost and minimise staff down-time.

For 2008-09 sessions delivered included:

n	assurance and other audit methodologies

n	forensic accounting techniques

n	public interest disclosures

n	internal controls

n	accountable and ethical decision-making

n	carbon credits

n	policies.

We have also begun to investigate online induction and 
training modules that would allow employees to complete 
self-paced training. In 2009-10 we expect to begin rolling 
out programs that will require users to complete online 
assessments and obtain evidence of successful completion of 
the modules. 

MAnAGinG Our Office
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internshiPs, trAineeshiPs And WOrk 
exPerience PrOGrAMs
The Office explored different work experience models, such 
as offering placements to students in the CPA Australia 
and the ICAA programs. Through partnerships with 
universities, we established an internship program to provide 
undergraduates with opportunities to gain experience in-
house across the various divisions.

We have also embarked on a strategy to enhance the Office’s 
stature as a research and learning organisation. The Standards 
and Quality Division is investigating opportunities for research 
partnerships, and we anticipate that a number of innovative 
programs will be established in the coming year.

We continue to support school-based trainees in our 
corporate services area and this program will continue 
through 2009-10.

GrievAnce resOlutiOn
The Office of the Auditor General is committed to providing 
an inclusive work environment for all staff that is free of 
discrimination and bias. During the year several employees 
attended training in regard to grievance resolution in the 
workplace and are now equipped to provide support to staff 
if required. 

In 2008-09 no grievances or breach claims were received.

sOciAl club
We have an active social club which, as well as providing 
regular social functions for staff, is also actively involved in 
coordinating charity fundraising events and contributing to 
whole-of-office team-building activities.

Office cOnsultAtive cOMMittee
The Office also operates an Office Consultative Committee 
that meets quarterly to discuss issues which affect staff. 
The committee provides the executive with comments on 
staff-related policies and procedures, and has input into the 
development and monitoring of Equal Opportunity and 
Disability Inclusion Access Plans.

eQuity And diversity
The Office values diversity and fosters an environment that is 
inclusive and free from bias.

The Office employs a diverse workforce with over 50 per cent 
of staff from culturally and linguistically diverse and non-
English speaking backgrounds. 

Equal Employment Opportunity training is provided to 
graduates and new staff as part of their induction program, 
and also as a refresher to all staff every two years. 

In 2008-09 we engaged the services of a speech therapist to 
assist some employees to refine their English pronunciation 
skills. To further assist, we subscribe to the online Macquarie 
Dictionary. This resource provides not only an interactive 
dictionary and thesaurus, but also audio files, enabling the 
user to listen to the pronunciation of words by an Australian 
voice-over reader.

The table below shows the representation of each diversity 
group as a percentage of our workforce at 30 June 2009.

Categories 2005 
Actual  

%

2006 
Actual 

%

2007 
Actual 

%

2008 
Actual 

%

2009 
Actual 

%
Women 52.2 55 57 57 59
Indigenous 
Australians

0.8 0.9 0.8 0.8 0.8

People from 
culturally diverse 
backgrounds

20 24.3 30.5 50 53

People with 
disabilities

5.1 4.7 3.1 4.3 4.1

Youth 17 11.2 12 9.6 11.3
table 15

MAnAGinG Our Office
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eMPlOyee relAtiOns
The Office continued to operate over the course of the year 
in a cooperative industrial climate, supported by the Office 
Consultative Committee. 

The Office also provides a confidential and independent 
Employee Assistance Program which can be accessed by 
employees and immediate family members. De-identified 
data and reports on usage are received, enabling the Office to 
detect trends in employee issues.

cOde Of cOnduct
The Office of the Auditor General’s Code of Conduct for 
employees was reviewed during the year. All employees were 
provided with a copy of the Code and were required to sign 
a statement that they had read it, understood it and would 
comply with it. The Code of Conduct was further reinforced 
and explained in a staff forum and is available on the staff 
intranet.

risk And business cOntinuity 
Risk management is an integral part of our governance 
framework. Operations are undertaken against a whole-of-
office risk management matrix, as approved by the Corporate 
Executive.

During the year, we re-developed our risk framework and 
established clear guidelines for managing, reporting and 
monitoring all risks.

The Business Continuity Plan is monitored by our Risk 
Management Committee and is under continual review 
to ensure we are prepared to continue critical business 
operations should an adverse event occur.

The Information Resources Branch is responsible for 
safeguarding the Office’s business continuity in the event of a 
disaster. The Branch factors a number of business continuity 
features into the design of critical systems and network 
services. These features include:

n	hardware and/or software redundancy is factored into 
critical systems

n	critical computer systems operate in a mirrored ‘fail-over’ 
environment allowing rapid activation of a backup system 
in the event of a primary system failure

n	critical internal components, network switches and disk 
drives are replicated, removing single points of failure

n	an automated tape backup system is in place with backup 
tapes moved offsite for safe storage

n	automated real-time monitoring and reporting of 
environmental and system conditions provide early 
warning of potential issues

n	automated security management software products 
minimise the risk of adverse security events impacting on 
critical system operation.

cOMMunicAtiOns
The work of the Auditor General attracts wide interest from 
Parliament, the media and the public. In February 2009 a 
Manager Communications was appointed to manage the 
publishing process and the communication and media liaison 
activities associated with it. 

The role also carries responsibility for internal communications 
with staff, electronic and print communications and strategic 
communication planning. 

PArliAMentAry liAisOn PrOGrAM
The Office continues to provide information to Parliament 
as one of its core functions. A calendar of planned 
regular contacts, including meetings, hearings, briefings 
and presentations, is in place and supports the Office 
communication strategy.

Green teAM
The Office runs a ‘Green Team’ program to increase awareness 
of sustainable development issues, to assist employees 
in making choices that respect the environment and that 
promote sustainable development, and to reinforce the 
Office’s efforts to economise on the use of resources and to 
minimise waste. 

MAnAGinG Our Office
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infOrMAtiOn MAnAGeMent
In 2008-09 the State Records Commission approved the 
five-year Recordkeeping Plan for this Office. We also moved 
towards a program of online records awareness training for 
all staff and intend updating to the latest version of the TRIM 
Electronic Documents and Records System. The new version 
of TRIM and the awareness training will be implemented 
throughout the Office in 2009-10.

infOrMAtiOn technOlOGy
In March 2009 the Information Resources Branch delivered 
a new staff intranet, built on a Microsoft SharePoint 
platform that enables distributed content management 
and collaboration activities for the whole Office. This new 
intranet site replaced the obsolete technology of the previous 
intranet with a user-centric solution providing rapid access to 
corporate information and resources. It has enhanced across-
office communication, and introduced some contemporary 
communication techniques such as an ‘Auditor General’s Blog’. 

During the year a project was initiated to redevelop the 
Office of the Auditor General public website. The Information 
Resources Branch provided technical advice on operating and 
hosting requirements and it is expected that the new site will 
be launched in the first half of 2009-10.

The Manager Information Resources was appointed to the 
IPSAM project committee as technical adviser, responsible 
for scoping the operating and technical requirements for the 
new audit methodology the Office plans to adopt.

Capital projects undertaken this year included the update and 
replacement of laptop computers as they came to the end 
of their useful life. We have also completed the evaluation 
and procurement process for the replacement of office 
printers with more environmentally-friendly and economical 
equipment. These printers will be available early in 2009-10.

MAnAGinG Our Office

The Information Resources Branch completed a major laptop replacement program, working to a tight turnaround time to minimise disruption 
to Office staff.
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Office Of the AuditOr GenerAl

certificAtiOn Of finAnciAl stAteMents

for the year ended 30 June 2009

The accompanying financial statements of the Office of the Auditor General have been prepared in compliance with the 

provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and records to present fairly the financial transactions 

for the financial year ending 30 June 2009 and the financial position as at 30 June 2009.

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render any particulars included in the financial 

statements misleading or inaccurate.

DAVID PARRICK COLIN MURPHY

CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER ACCOUNTABLE AUTHORITY

18 August 2009 18 August 2009

finAnciAl stAteMents
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indePendent AuditOr’s OPiniOn – finAnciAl stAteMents fOr the yeAr ended 30 June 2009

INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT 
TO THE PARLIAMENT OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA 
 
OFFICE OF THE AUDITOR GENERAL 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2009 
 
 
SCOPE 
 
I have audited the accounts, financial statements and controls of the Office of the Auditor General. The financial statements comprise the Balance Sheet as at 
30 June 2009, Income Statement, Statement of Changes in Equity, Cash Flow Statement and Summary of Consolidated Account Appropriations and Income 
Estimates for the year ended 30 June 2009, a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes under the provisions of the Financial 
Management Act 2006 and Auditor General Act 2006. 
 
The Accountable Authority is responsible for keeping proper accounts and maintaining adequate system of internal control, preparing and presenting the financial 
statements, and complying with the Act and other relevant written law.  The primary responsibility for the detection, investigation and prevention of irregularities 
rests with the Accountable Officer. 
 
My audit was performed in accordance with section 40 of the Auditor General Act 2006 to express an opinion on the financial statements and controls based on a 
reasonable level of assurance.  The audit procedures included examining, on a test basis, the controls exercised by the Office of the Auditor General to ensure 
financial regularity in accordance with legislative provisions, evidence to provide reasonable assurance that the amounts and other disclosures in the financial 
statements are free of material misstatement and the evaluation of accounting policies and significant accounting estimates.  These procedures have been 
undertaken to form an opinion as to whether, in all material respects, the financial statements are presented fairly in accordance with Accounting Standards and 
other mandatory professional reporting requirements in Australia and the Treasurer’s Instructions, so as to present a view wh ich is consistent with our 
understanding of the Office of the Auditor General’s financial position, the results of its operations and its cash flows. 
 
The audit opinion expressed below has been formed on the above basis. 
 
AUDIT OPINION 
 
In my opinion: 
 
(i) The financial statements of the Office of the Auditor General are based on proper accounts and present fairly, in accordance with Accounting Standards 

(including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Treasurer’s Instructions, the financial position of the Office of the Auditor General as at 30 June 
2009 and operating results and cash flows ended on that date; and 

 
(ii) The controls exercised by the Office of the Auditor General provide reasonable assurance that the receipt, expenditure and investment of moneys, the 

acquisition and disposal of property and the incurring of liabilities have been in accordance with legislative provisions. 
 
 
 
 
BENTLEYS CHRIS WATTS 

Chartered Accountants Director 
 
DATED at PERTH this 18th day of August 2009	
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note 2009
$’000

2008
$’000

cOst Of serVices
expenses

Employee benefits expense 5 9 163 8 478
Supplies and services 6 7 114 6 789
Depreciation and amortisation expense 7 323 382
Accommodation expenses 8 1 210 730
Other expenses 9 22 49

total cost of services 17 832 16 428

income
Revenue

Other revenue 10 73 25
total revenue 73 25

total income other than income from state Government 73 25

net Cost oF seRviCes 17 759 16 403

incOMe frOM stAte GOVernMent
Service appropriation 17 907 16 641
Resources received free of charge 10 9

total income from state Government 11 17 917 16 650

suRplus  FoR the peRioD 158 247

The Income Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

incOMe stAteMent fOr the yeAr ended 30 June 2009
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bAlAnce sheet As At 30 June 2009

note 2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Assets
current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 21 1 359 1 649
Receivables 13 478 641
Amounts receivable for services 14 1 007 736

total current Assets 2 844 3 026
non-current Assets

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 12 132 92
Property, plant and equipment 15 560 291
Intangible assets 16 453 465

total non-current Assets 1 145 848
totAl Assets 3 989 3 874
liABilities
current liabilities

Payables 18 652 1 000
Provisions 19 1 826 1 629

total current liabilities 2 478 2 629
non-current liabilities

Provisions 19 189 226
total non-current liabilities 189 226
totAl liABilities 2 667 2 855

net Assets 1 322 1 019
EQUITY 20

Contributed equity 882 737
Accumulated surplus 440 282

totAl eQuity 1 322 1 019

The Balance Sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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stAteMent Of chAnGes in eQuity fOr the yeAr ended 30 June 2009

note 2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Balance of equity at start of period 1 019 939

cOntriButed eQuitY

Balance at start of period 737 629

Capital contribution 145 108

Balance at end of period 20 882 737

AccuMulAted surPlus
Balance at start of period 282 310

Adjustment for change in accounting policy 0 (275)

Restated balance at start of period 282 35

Surplus for the period 158 247

Balance at end of period 20 440 282

BAlAnCe oF eQuity At enD oF peRioD 1 322 1 019

total income and expense for the period (a) 158 247

(a)  The aggregate net amount attributable to each category of equity is: surplus $158 000 (2008: surplus $247 000)

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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cAsh flOW stAteMent fOr the yeAr ended 30 June 2009

note 2009
$’000

2008
$’000

cAsh flOWs frOM stAte GOVernMent
Service appropriation 17 333 16 055
Capital contributions 145 108
Holding account drawdowns 302 363

net cash provided by state Government 17 780 16 526

utilised as follows:
cAsh flOWs frOM OPerAtinG ActiVities
Payments

Employee benefits (8 959) (8 184)
Supplies and services (7 536) (5 904)
Accommodation (1 210) (730)
GST payments on purchases (1 566) (1 021)
Other payments (22) (43)

receipts
GST receipts on sales 1 395 25
GST receipts from taxation authority 173 348
Other receipts 275 25

net cash used in operating activities 21 (17 450) (15 484)

cAsh flOWs frOM inVestinG ActiVities
Purchase of non-current physical assets (580) (319)

net cash used in investing activities (580) (319)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (250) 723
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period 1 741 1 018

CAsh AnD CAsh eQuivAlents At the enD oF peRioD 21 1 491 1 741

The Cash Flow Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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suMMAry Of cOnsOlidAted AccOunt APPrOPriAtiOns And incOMe estiMAtes
fOr the yeAr ended 30 June 2009

2009 
estimate 

$’000

2009  
Actual  
$’000

 
variance 

$’000

2009  
Actual 
$’000

2008  
Actual  
$’000

 
variance 

$’000
deliVerY Of serVices
Item 69 Net amount appropriated to deliver services 16 659 17 406 (747) 17 406 16 157 1 249
Amount Authorised by Other Statutes 
   Salaries and Allowance Act 1975

501 501 0 501 484 17

total appropriations provided to deliver services 17 160 17 907 (747) 17 907 16 641 1 266
cAPitAl
Item 148 Capital Contribution 145 145 0 145 108 37
GRAnD totAl 17 305 18 052 (747) 18 052 16 749 1 303
details of expenses by service
Performance Auditing 17 137 17 832 (695) 17 832 16 428 1 404
Total Cost of Services 17 137 17 832 (695) 17 832 16 428 1 404
Less total income (20) (73) 53 (73) (25) (48)
Net Cost of Services 17 117 17 759 (642) 17 759 16 403 1 356
Adjustments 43 148 (105) 148 238 (90)
total appropriations provided to deliver services 17 160 17 907 (747) 17 907 16 641 1 266
capital expenditure
Purchase of non-current physical assets 763 580 183 580 352 228
Adjustments for other funding sources (618) (435) (183) (435) (244) (191)
Capital Contribution (appropriation) 145 145 0 145 108 37
detAils Of incOMe estiMAtes
Income disclosed as Administered Income 12 657 13 949 (1 292) 13 949 12 695 1 254

Adjustments comprise movements in cash balances and other accrual items such as receivables, payables and superannuation.

Note 31 ‘Explanatory Statement’ provides details of any significant variations between estimates and actual results for 2009 and between actual results for 2008 and 2009.
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1. Office MissiOn And fundinG

 The Office of the Auditor General’s mission, through performance auditing, is to enable the 
Auditor General to serve the public interest by communicating to Parliament independent and 
impartial information regarding public sector accountability and performance.

 The Office is predominantly funded by parliamentary appropriation.

2. AustrAliAn eQuiVAlents tO internAtiOnAl finAnciAl rePOrtinG stAndArds

	 General

 The Office’s financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2009 have been prepared in 
accordance with Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS), 
which comprise a Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements 
(the Framework) and Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting 
Interpretations).

 In preparing these financial statements the Office has adopted, where relevant to its 
operations, new and revised Standards and Interpretations from their operative dates as issued 
by the AASB and formerly the Urgent Issues Group (UIG).

 early adoption of standards

 The Office cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard or Australian Accounting 
Interpretation unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 ‘Application of Australian Accounting 
Standards and Other Pronouncements’. No Standards and Interpretations that have been 
issued or amended but are not yet effective have been early adopted by the Office for the 
annual reporting period ended 30 June 2009.

3. suMMArY Of siGnificAnt AccOuntinG POlicies

(a) General statement

	 The financial statements constitute a general purpose financial report which has been 
prepared in accordance with the Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statement 
of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board as applied by the Treasurer’s instructions. Several of these are 
modified by the Treasurer’s instructions to vary application, disclosure, format and wording.

 The Financial Management Act and the Treasurer’s instructions are legislative provisions 
governing the preparation of financial statements and take precedence over the Accounting 
Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative 
pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board.

 Where modification is required and has a material or significant financial effect upon the 
reported results, details of that modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in 
the notes to the financial statements.

(b) Basis of Preparation

 The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the 
historical cost convention.

 The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been 
consistently applied throughout all periods presented unless otherwise stated.

 The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the 
nearest thousand dollars ($’000).

(c) reporting entity

 The reporting entity comprises the Office of the Auditor General.

 The Office administers assets, liabilities, income and expenses on behalf of Government which 
are not controlled by, nor integral to the function of the Office. These administered balances 
and transactions are not recognised in the principal financial statements of the Office but 
schedules are prepared using the same basis as the financial statements and are presented at 
note 34 ‘Administered expenses and income’ and note 35 ‘Administered assets and liabilities’.

nOtes tO the finAnciAl stAteMent fOr the yeAr ended 30 June 2009
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(d) contributed equity

 AASB Interpretation 1038 ‘Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector 
Entities’ requires transfers, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, 
in the nature of equity contributions to be designated by the Government (the owner) 
as contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior to transfer) before such transfers can 
be recognised as equity contributions. Capital contributions (appropriations) have been 
designated as contributions by owners by Treasurer’s instruction (TI) 955 ‘Contributions by 
Owners made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities’ and have been credited directly to 
Contributed Equity. 

(e) income

 Revenue recognition

 Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. Revenue is 
recognised for the major business activities as follows:

 Sale of goods

 Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets when the significant 
risks and rewards of ownership control transfer to the purchaser and can be measured reliably.

 Rendering of services

 Revenue is recognised upon delivery of the service to the client or by reference to the stage of 
completion of the transaction. Audit fees are recognised in accordance with the percentage of 
the audit completed. The percentage of audit completed is measured by reference to labour 
hours incurred to the balance sheet date as a percentage of the estimated total hours.

 Service Appropriations

 Service Appropriations are recognised as revenues in the period in which the Office gains 
control of the appropriated funds. The Office gains control of appropriated funds at the time 
those funds are deposited into the Office’s bank account or credited to the holding account 
held at Treasury.

 Net Appropriation Determination

 The Treasurer may make a determination providing for prescribed receipts to be retained for 
services under the control of the Office. In accordance with the determination specified in the 
2008-09 Budget Statements, the Office retained $73 000 in 2009 ($25 000 in 2008) from the 
following:

 n Government Vehicle Scheme

 n Other Revenue

 Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions

 Revenue is recognised at fair value when the Office obtains control over the assets comprising 
the contributions which is usually when cash is received.

 Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners are recognised at 
their fair value. Contributions of services are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably 
determined and the services would be purchased if not donated.

 Gains

 Gains may be realised or unrealised and are usually recognised on a net basis. These include 
gains arising on the disposal of non-current assets.

(f) Property, Plant and equipment

	 Capitalisation/Expensing of assets

 Items of property, plant and equipment costing $5 000 or more are recognised as assets and 
the cost of utilising assets is expensed (depreciated) over their useful lives. Items of property, 
plant and equipment costing less than $5 000 are immediately expensed direct to the Income 
Statement (other than where they form part of a group of similar items which are significant in 
total).

nOtes tO the finAnciAl stAteMent fOr the yeAr ended 30 June 2009
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 Initial recognition and measurement

 All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost.

 For items of property, plant and equipment acquired at no cost or for nominal consideration, 
the cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition.

 Subsequent measurement

 Items of property, plant and equipment are carried at historical cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

 Depreciation

 All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their 
estimated useful lives in a manner which reflects the consumption of their future economic 
benefits.

 Depreciation is calculated using the straight line method, using rates which are reviewed 
annually. Estimated useful lives for each class of depreciable asset are:

 Computer equipment – 3 years

 Office equipment – 10 years

 Furniture and fittings – 10 years

(g) intangible Assets

 Capitalisation/Expensing of assets

 Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5 000 or more and internally generated intangible 
assets costing $50 000 or more are capitalised. The cost of utilising the assets is expensed 
(amortised) over their useful life. Costs incurred below these thresholds are immediately 
expensed directly to the Income Statement.

 All acquired and internally developed intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. 
For assets acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair value at the date of 
acquisition.

 The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the asset to be carried at 
cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

 Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is calculated for the period of the 
expected benefit (estimated useful life) on the straight line basis using rates which are 
reviewed annually. All intangible assets controlled by the Office have a finite useful life and zero 
residual value. The expected useful lives for each class of intangible asset are:

 Software – 3 years (a)

 (a) Software that is not integral to the operation of any related hardware.

 Computer Software

 Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is treated as property, plant and 
equipment. Software that is not an integral part of the related hardware is treated as an 
intangible asset. Software costing less than $5 000 is expensed in the year of acquisition.

(h) impairment of Assets

 Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are tested for any indication of 
impairment at each balance sheet date. Where there is an indication of impairment, the 
recoverable amount is estimated. Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying 
amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to the recoverable amount and 
an impairment loss is recognised. As the Office is a not-for-profit entity, unless an asset has 
been identified as a surplus asset, the recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value 
less costs to sell and depreciated replacement cost. 

 The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is 
materially understated, where the replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant 
change in useful life. Each relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to verify that the 
accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of consumption or expiration of the 
asset’s future economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from falling replacement 
costs.

 Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not yet available for use 
are tested for impairment at each balance sheet date irrespective of whether there is any 
indication of impairment.

nOtes tO the finAnciAl stAteMent fOr the yeAr ended 30 June 2009
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 The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair value less 
costs to sell and the present value of future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset. 
Surplus assets carried at fair value have no risk of material impairment where fair value is 
determined by reference to market-based evidence.

 Where fair value is determined by reference to depreciated replacement cost, surplus assets are 
at risk of impairment and the recoverable amount is measured. Surplus assets at cost are tested 
for indications of impairment at each balance sheet date.

(i) leases

 The Office holds operating lease arrangements for office accommodation, certain equipment 
and motor vehicles where the lessors effectively retain all of the risks and benefits incident to 
ownership of the items held. Lease payments are expensed on a straight line basis over the 
lease term as this represents the pattern of benefits derived from the leased items.

(j) financial instruments 

 In addition to cash, the Office has two categories of financial instrument:

 n Loans and receivables; and

 n Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

 These have been disaggregated into the following classes:

 Financial Assets

 n Cash and cash equivalents

 n Restricted cash and cash equivalents

 n Receivables

 n Amounts receivable for services

 Financial Liabilities

 n Payables

 Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value which normally 
equates to the transaction cost or the face value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method.

 The fair value of short term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face value 
because there is no interest rate applicable and subsequent measurement is not required as 
the effect of discounting is not material.

(k) cash and cash equivalents 

 For the purpose of the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents includes restricted 
cash and cash equivalents. These are comprised of cash on hand and short-term deposits with 
original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to a known amount of 
cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.

(l) Accrued salaries

 The accrued salaries suspense account (see note 12 ‘Restricted cash and cash equivalents’) 
consists of amounts paid annually into a suspense account over a period of 10 financial years 
to largely meet the additional cash outflow in each eleventh year when 27 pay days occur 
instead of the normal 26. No interest is received on this account.

 Accrued salaries (see note 18 ‘Payables’) represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the 
end of the financial year, as the pay date for the last pay period for that financial year does 
not coincide with the end of the financial year. Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight 
of the financial year end. The Office considers the carrying amount of accrued salaries to be 
equivalent to its net fair value.

(m) Amounts receivable for services (holding Account)

 The Office receives appropriation funding on an accrual basis that recognises the full annual 
cash and non-cash cost of services. The appropriations are partly paid in cash and partly as an 
asset (Holding Account receivable) that is accessible on the emergence of the cash funding 
requirement to cover items such as asset replacement and leave entitlements. See also note 11 
‘Income from State Government’ and note 14 ‘Amounts receivable for services’.
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(n) receivables

	 Receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less an allowance for 
uncollectible amounts (i.e. impairment). The collectability of receivables is reviewed on an 
ongoing basis and any receivables identified as uncollectible are written off against the 
allowance account. The allowance for uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when 
there is objective evidence that the Office will not be able to collect the debts. The carrying 
amount is equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement within 30 days. See note 3(j) 
‘Financial Instruments’ and note 13 ‘Receivables’.

(o) Payables

	 Payables are recognised when the Office becomes obliged to make future payments as a result 
of a purchase of assets or services. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as they are 
generally settled within 30 days. See note 3(j) ‘Financial Instruments’ and note 18 ‘Payables’.

(p) Provisions

	 Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing and amount and are recognised where there is 
a present legal, equitable or constructive obligation as a result of a past event and when the 
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is probable and a reliable estimate can be 
made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date. See 
note 19 ‘Provisions’.

 (i) Provisions – employee Benefits

	 Annual Leave and Long Service Leave

 The liability for annual and long service leave expected to be settled within 12 months after the 
balance sheet date is recognised and measured at the undiscounted amounts expected to be 
paid when the liabilities are settled. Annual and long service leave expected to be settled more 
than 12 months after the balance sheet date is measured at the present value of amounts 
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. Leave liabilities are in respect of services 
provided by employees up to the balance sheet date.

 When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage 
and salary levels including non-salary components such as employer superannuation 
contributions. In addition, the long service leave liability also considers the experience of 
employee departures and periods of service.

 The expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the balance sheet date 
on national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the 
estimated future cash outflows. 

 All annual leave and unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current 
liabilities as the Office does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability 
for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

	 Purchased leave

 The provision for purchased leave relates to Public Service employees who have entered into 
an agreement to self-fund up to an additional four weeks leave per calendar year. The provision 
recognises the value of salary set aside for employees and is measured at the nominal amounts 
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. The liability is measured on the same basis 
as annual leave. 

 Superannuation

 The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) in accordance with legislative 
requirements administers public sector superannuation arrangements in WA.

 Employees may contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme now 
closed to new members, or the Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit 
lump sum scheme also closed to new members. The Office has no liabilities for superannuation 
charges under the Pension or the GSS Schemes as the liability has been assumed by the 
Treasurer.

 Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who were not members of 
either the Pension or GSS Schemes became non-contributory members of the West State 
Superannuation Scheme (WSS). Employees commencing employment on or after 16 April 
2007 became members of the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS). Both of these schemes are 
accumulation schemes. The Office makes concurrent contributions to GESB on behalf of 
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employees in compliance with the Commonwealth Government’s Superannuation Guarantee 
(Administration) Act 1992. These contributions extinguish the liability for superannuation 
charges in respect of the WSS and GESBS Scheme.

 The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension and GSS Schemes, and is 
recouped by the Treasurer for the employer’s share.

 See also note 3(q) ‘Superannuation expense’.

 (ii) Provisions – Other

 Employment On-Costs

 Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are not employee benefits 
and are recognised separately as liabilities and expenses when the employment to which they 
relate has occurred. Employment on-costs are included as part of ’Other expenses’ and are not 
included as part of the Office’s ‘Employee benefits expense’. The related liability is included in 
‘Employment on-costs provision’. See note 9 ‘Other Expenses’ and note 19 ‘Provisions’.

(q) superannuation expense

 The following elements are included in calculating the superannuation expense in the Income 
Statement:

 (a) Defined benefit plans – For 2007-08 the change in the unfunded employer’s liability (i.e. 
current service cost and actuarial gains and losses) assumed by the Treasurer in respect of 
current employees who are members of the Pension Scheme and current employees who 
accrued a benefit on transfer from that Scheme to the Gold State Superannuation Scheme 
(GSS); and

 (b) Defined contribution plans – Employer contributions paid to the GSS (concurrent 
contributions), West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS), and the GESB Super Scheme 
(GESBS). 

 Defined benefit plans – Up until 2007-08, the movements (i.e. current service cost and, 
actuarial gains and losses) in the liabilities in respect of the Pension Scheme and the GSS 
Scheme transfer benefits were recognised as expenses directly in the Income Statement. 
Commencing in 2008-09 the reporting of annual movements in these notional liabilities has 
been discontinued and is no longer recognised in the Income Statement. 

 The superannuation expense does not include payment of pensions to retirees, as this does 
not constitute part of the cost of services provided in the current year. 

 Defined contribution plans – in order to reflect the Office’s true cost of services the Office is 
funded for the equivalent of employer contributions in respect of the GSS Scheme (excluding 
transfer benefits). These contributions were paid to the GESB during the year and placed in a 
trust account administered by the GESB on behalf of the Treasurer. The GESB subsequently paid 
these employer contributions in respect of the GSS Scheme to the Consolidated Account.

 The GSS Scheme is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and whole-of-
government reporting. However, apart from the transfer benefit, it is a defined contribution 
plan for agency purposes because the concurrent contributions (defined contributions) made 
by the agency to the GESB extinguishes the agency’s obligations to the related superannuation 
liability.

(r) resources received free of charge or for nominal cost

 Resources received free of charge or for nominal cost that can be reliably measured are 
recognised as income and as assets or expenses as appropriate, at fair value.

(s) comparative figures

 Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be comparable with the figures 
presented in the current financial year.
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4. disclOsure Of chAnGes in AccOuntinG POlicY And estiMAtes

	 initial application of an Australian Accounting standard

	 The Office has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards and Australian 
Accounting Interpretations effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 
2008 that impacted on the Office:

 Review of AAS 27 ‘Financial Reporting by Local Governments’, AAS 29 ‘Financial Reporting by 
Government Departments’ and AAS 31 ‘Financial Reporting by Governments’. The AASB has 
made the following pronouncements from its short term review of AAS 27, AAS 29 and AAS 31: 

 AASB 1004 ‘Contributions’

 AASB 1050 ‘Administered Items’

 AASB 1051 ‘Land Under Roads’

 AASB 1052 ‘Disaggregated Disclosures’’

 AASB 2007-9 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the review of AASs 
27, 29 and 31 [AASB 3, AASB 5, AASB 8, AASB 101, AASB 114, AASB 116, AASB 127 & AASB 137]

 Interpretation 1038 ‘Contributions by Owners to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities’.

 The existing requirements in AAS 27, AAS 29 and AAS 31 have been transferred to the above 
new and revised topic-based Standards and Interpretation. These requirements remain 
substantively unchanged. The new and revised Standards and Interpretation make some 
modifications to disclosures and provide additional guidance, otherwise there is no financial 
impact.

 Voluntary changes in Accounting Policy

 From 1 July 2008, the Office changed its threshold for the capitalisation of property,plant 
and equipment and intangible assets from $1 000 to $5 000. Assets with a purchase cost of 
less than $5 000 from this date will be expensed to the Income Statement. An adjustment of 
$301 840 was made to the Accumulated Surplus to reflect the impact of applying this policy to 
prior periods. Also refer to notes 15,16 and 20.

 The impact of this adjustment on the comparatives for 2008 is set out in the table below (due 
to the effective date there is no effect on the 2009 financial year).

 
Previously 

stated
Adjustment restated

2007-08 2007-08 2007-08
$’000 $’000 $’000

income statement
Property Plant and Equipment – Depreciation (310) 3 (307)
Intangible Assets – Amortisation (48) 3 (45)
Assets under $5 000 (282) (33) (315)
Profit/(Loss) 274 (27) 247

Balance sheet
Property Plant and Equipment 572 (281) 291
Intangible Assets 482 (17) 465
Adjustment to Opening Accumulated Surplus 310 (275) 35
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 future impact of Australian Accounting standards not yet operative

 The Office cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard or Australian Accounting 
Interpretation unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 ‘Application of Australian Accounting 
Standards and Other Pronouncements’. Consequently, the Office has not applied the following 
Australian Accounting Standards and Australian Accounting Interpretations that have been 
issued and which may impact the Office but are not yet effective. Where applicable the Office 
plans to apply these Standards and Interpretations from their application date:

title operative for 
reporting periods  

beginning on/after

AASB 101 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ (September 
2007). This Standard has been revised and will change the 
structure of the financial statements. These changes will 
require that owner changes in equity are presented separately 
from non-owner changes in equity. The Office does not 
expect any financial impact when the Standard is first applied.

1 January 2009

AASB 2009-2 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Improving Disclosures about Financial 
Instruments [AASB 4, AASB 7, AASB 1023 & AASB 1038]’. 
This Standard amends AASB 7 and will require enhanced 
disclosures about fair value measurements and liquidity risk 
with respect to financial instruments. The Office does not 
expect any financial impact when the Standard is first applied.

1 January 2009

5. eMPlOYee Benefits eXPense

 

Salaries (a) 7 584 6 634
Superannuation - defined contribution plans (b) 776  689
Annual leave 593  843 
Long Service Leave (c) 210  312 

9 163 8 478 

 (a) Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefits tax 
component.

 (b) Defined contribution plans include West State, Gold State and GESB Super Scheme 
(contributions paid).

 (c) Defined benefit plans include Pension scheme and Gold State (pre-transfer benefit). 

	 Employment on-costs such as workers’ compensation insurance are included at note 9 ‘Other 
Expenses’. The employment on-costs liability is included in note 19 ‘Provisions’.
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6. suPPlies And serVices

Contracted audit work 5 633 5 102
Other services and contracts 456 409
Other staffing costs 197 284
Administration 183 177
Repairs and maintenance (a) 168 315
Lease expenses 142 132
Consumables 130 110
Travel and accommodation 113 134
Communications 72 74
Advertising 18 42
Other 2 10

7 114 6 789

 (a) Includes asset purchases under $5 000

7. dePreciAtiOn And AMOrtisAtiOn eXPense

 

depreciation
Office and computer equipment 100 307
Furniture and fittings 30 30
Total depreciation 130 337

Amortisation
Intangible assets 193 45
Total amortisation 193 45

Total depreciation and amortisation 323 382

8. AccOMMOdAtiOn eXPenses

 

Office rent 877 453
Office parking 127 90
Monthly outgoings 206 187

1 210 730

9. Other eXPenses

 

Employment on-cost (a) 1 18
Audit fee (b) 21 31

22 49

 (a) Includes workers’ compensation insurance and other employment on-costs. The on-costs 
liability associated with the recognition of annual and long service liability is included at 
note 19 ‘Provisions’. Superannuation contributions accrued as part of the provision for leave 
are employee benefits and are not included in employment on-costs.

 (b) See also note 24 ‘Remuneration of auditor’.

10. Other reVenue

 

Contributions for the use of motor vehicles 22 22
Miscellaneous 51 3

73 25

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000
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11. incOMe frOM stAte GOVernMent

 

Appropriation received during the year:
Service appropriations (a) 17 907 16 641

17 907 16 641
Resources received free of charge (b)

Determined on the basis of the following estimates 
provided by agencies:
State Solicitor’s Office 10 9
Total resources received free of charge 10 9

Total income from State Government 17 917 16 650

 (a) Service appropriations are accrual amounts reflecting the full cost of services delivered. 
The appropriation revenue comprises a cash component and a receivable (asset). The 
receivable (holding account) comprises the depreciation expense for the year and any 
agreed increase in leave liability during the year.

 (b) Where assets or services have been received free of charge or for nominal cost, the Office 
recognises revenues equivalent to the fair value of the assets and/or the fair value of those 
services that can be readily measured and which would have been purchased if they were 
not donated, and those fair values shall be recognised as assets or expenses, as applicable. 
Where the contribution of assets or services are in the nature of contributions by owners, 
the Office makes an adjustment direct to equity.

12. restricted cAsh And cAsh eQuiVAlents

 

non-current
Accrued salaries suspense account (a) 132 92

132 92

 (a) Amount held in the suspense account is only to be used for the purpose of meeting the 
27th pay in a financial year that occurs every 11 years.

13. receiVABles

 

current
Receivables 78 451
GST receivable 233 169

311 620
Prepayments 167 21
Total Current 478 641

14. AMOunts receiVABle fOr serVices

 

Current 1 007 736

 Represents the non-cash component of service appropriations. See Note 3(m) ‘Amounts 
receivable for services (Holding Account)’. It is restricted in that it can only be uses for asset 
replacement or payment of leave liability.

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000
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15. PrOPertY, PlAnt And eQuiPMent

 

furniture and fittings
At cost 301 301
Accumulated depreciation (157) (127)

144 174
Office and computer equipment
At cost 1 155 758
Accumulated depreciation (739) (641)

416 117
560 291

 Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment at the beginning 
and end of the reporting period are set out below:

 

office 
equipment

Furniture 
and Fittings

total

2009

Carrying amount at start of year 117 174 291

Additions 399 0 399

Disposals 0 0 0

Depreciation (100) (30) (130)

carrying amount at end of year 416 144 560

2008

Carrying amount at start of year 420 203 623

Additions 9 0 9

Disposals (3) 0 (3)

Depreciation (309) (29) (338)

carrying amount at end of year 117 174 291

2009
$’000

2008
$’000
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16. intAnGiBle Assets

 

software
At cost 717 535
Accumulated amortisation (264) (70)

453 465
reconciliations:
software
Carrying amount at start of year 465 91
Additions 181 418
Disposals 0 0
Amortisation expense (193) (44)
Carrying amount at end of year 453 465

17. iMPAirMent Of Assets

 There were no indications of impairment to property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets as at 30 June 2009.

 The Office held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the 
reporting period and at balance sheet date there were no intangible assets not yet available for 
use.

18. PAYABles

 

current
Accrued expenses 217 175
Accrued salaries 100 56
Work in progress contractors payments 335 769

652 1 000

19. PrOVisiOns

 

current
Employee benefits provision:
Annual leave (a) 751 590
Long service leave (b) 873 872
Purchased leave (c) 17 28

1 641 1 490
Other Provision
Employment on-costs (d) 185 139

total current Provisions 1 826 1 629

non-current
Employee benefits provision
Long service leave (b) 170 203

Other Provisions
Employment on-costs (d) 19 23

total non-current Provisions 189 226

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000
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19. PrOVisiOns (continued)

(a) Annual leave
Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as 
there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at 
least 12 months after balance sheet date. Assessments 
indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as 
follows:
Within 12 months of balance sheet date 751 590
More than 12 months after balance sheet date 0 0

751 590
(b) long service leave
Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current 
where there is no unconditional right to defer settlement 
for at least 12 months after balance sheet date. Assessments 
indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as 
follows:
Within 12 months of balance sheet date 436 450
More than 12 months after balance sheet date 607 625

1 043 1 075
(c) Purchased leave
Purchased leave liabilities have been classified as current 
as there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for 
at least 12 months after balance sheet date. Assessments 
indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as 
follows:
Within 12 months of balance sheet date 17 28
More than 12 months after balance sheet date 0 0

17 28

 (d) The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of 
employment on-costs including workers’ compensation insurance. The provision is the 
present value of expected future payments. The associated expense, apart from the 
unwinding of the discount (finance cost), is disclosed in note 9 ‘Other Expenses’.

 Movements in Other Provisions:

 Movements in each class of provisions during the year, other than employee benefits, are set 
out below.

 

employment on-cost provision
Carrying amount at start of year 162 162
Additional provisions recognised 42 0
Carrying amount at end of year 204 162

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000
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20. eQuitY

 Equity represents the residual interest in the net assets of the Office. The Government holds the 
equity interest in the Office on behalf of the community.

contributed equity
Balance at the start of the year 737 629
contributions by owners
Capital contribution (a) 145 108
Total contributions by owners 145 108

Balance at the end of the year 882 737

Accumulated surplus/(deficit)
Balance at the start of the year 282 310
Adjustment for changes in Accounting Policy (b) 0 (275)
Restated balance at start of period 282 35
Result for the period 158 247
Balance at the end of the year 440 282

TOTAL EQUITY 1 322 1 019

 (a) Under the Treasurer’s instruction TI 955 ‘Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned 
Public Sector Entities’ Capital Contributions (appropriations) have been designated as 
contributions by owners in accordance with AASB Interpretation 1038 ‘Contributions by 
Owners made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities’.

 (b) Change in opening Accumulated Surplus as a result of the change in Accounting Policy 
– Asset Recognition threshold changed to $5 000. See also note 4 ‘Voluntary Changes in 
Accounting Policy’.

21. nOtes tO the cAsh flOW stAteMent

 Reconciliation of cash

 Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Cash Flow Statement is reconciled to the 
related items in the Balance Sheet as follows:

 

Cash and cash equivalents 1 359 1 641
Cash advances 0 8

1 359 1 649
Restricted cash and cash equivalents (see note 12 ‘Restricted 
cash and cash equivalents’) 132 92

1 491 1 741

Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows  
used in operating activities

Net cost of services (17 759) (16 403)
Non-cash items:
Depreciation and amortisation expense 323 382
Resources received free of charge 10 9
(increase)/decrease in assets:
Current receivables 226 (290)
increase/(decrease) in liabilities:
Current payables (348) 302
Current provisions 197 384
Non-current provision (37) (156)
Change in GST in receivables payables (62) 288
Net cash used in operating activities (17 450) (15 484)

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000
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22. cOMMitMents 

	

Private Sector Contracts Commitments

Commitments in relation to audit services contracted for 
at balance sheet date but not recognised in the financial 
statements are payable as follows:
Within one year 3 996 5 000
Later than one year and not later than five years 5 274 3 870

9 270 8 870

Lease Commitments 

Commitments in relation to non-cancellable operating 
leases contracted for at balance sheet date but not 
recognised in the financial statements are payable as 
follows:
Within one year 1 155 1 182
Later than one year and not later than five years 2 341 3 438

3 496 4 620

23. reMunerAtiOn Of seniOr Officers

 Senior officers are classified as members of Corporate Executive.

 The number of senior officers whose total of fees, salaries, superannuation and other benefits 
for the financial year, fall within the following bands are:

 

2009 2008
$100 001 – 110 000 0 0
$110 001 – 120 000 0 1
$120 001 – 130 000 0 2
$130 001 – 140 000 3 2
$140 001 – 150 000 2 1
$150 001 – 160 000 0 0
$180 001 – 190 000 0 1
$190 001 – 200 000 1 0
$300 001 – 310 000 1 0
$310 001 – 320 000 0 1

The total remuneration of senior officers is: 1 187 1 280

 The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Office in respect 
of senior officers.

 No senior officers are members of the Pension Scheme.

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000
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24. reMunerAtiOn Of AuditOr

 

An independent auditor is appointed by the Governor 
under section 38 (2) of the Auditor General Act 2006 to 
audit the accounts, financial statements and performance 
indicators of the Office with the fee being paid by this Office 21 31

 The expense is included at note 9 ‘Other Expenses’.

25. resOurces PrOVided free Of chArGe

 During the year, audit services were provided free of charge to a number of departments, 
statutory authorities and for request audits.

 

Landcare Trust 3 0
Dwellingup Cemetery Board 2 0
Chowerup Cemetery Board 1 0
South Caroling Cemetery Board 1 0
Department for Communities 0 2
Bunbury Cemetery Board 0 2
Agricultural Practices Board of Western Australia 0 1
Chemistry Centre (WA) 0 1

7 6

26. cOntinGent liABilities And cOntinGent Assets

	 There are no contingent liabilities or contingent assets at the balance sheet date.

27. eVents OccurrinG After the BAlAnce sheet dAte

	 There were no events occurring post balance sheet date.

28. relAted BOdies

	 The Office did not have any related bodies during the financial year.

29. AffiliAted BOdies

	 The Office did not have any affiliated bodies during the financial year.

30. sPeciAl PurPOse AccOunts

 The Office does not have any special purpose accounts at the balance sheet date.

2009
$’000

2008
$’000
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31. eXPlAnAtOrY stAteMent

 Significant variations between estimates and actual results for income and expense as 
presented in the financial statement titled ‘Summary of Consolidated Account Appropriations 
and Income Estimates’ are shown below. Significant variations are considered to be those 
greater than 10 per cent or $250 000.

 (i) significant variances between estimate and actual for 2009 – total appropriation to 
deliver services.

 

2009 
estimate

$’000

2009  
Actual 
$’000

 
variation 

$’000
Total appropriations provided to deliver services 16 659 17 406 747
Total cost of services 17 137 17 832 695
Net cost of services 17 117 17 759 642

 The variance in the total amount appropriated to deliver services was due to additional 
funding for additional audit fees to private sector audit contractors. The increase in funding is 
also reflected in the increased Total and Net cost of services.

 (ii) significant variances between estimate and actual for 2009 – capital expenditure. 
 

2009  
$’000

2008 
$’000

variation 
$’000

Purchase of non-current physical assets 763 580 (183)

 The reduction in capital expenditure is as a result of the deferral of expenditure on the audit 
methodology project (IPSAM) to 2009–10 and the impact of the change in asset capitalisation 
threshold (expenditure that was previously for non-current assets is now expensed).

 (iii) significant variances between actuals for 2008 and 2009 – total appropriation to 
deliver services.

 

2009 
estimate

$’000

2009  
Actual 
$’000

 
variation 

$’000
Total appropriations provided to deliver services 17 406 16 157 1 249
Total cost of services 17 832 16 428 1 404
Net cost of services 17 759 16 403 1 356

 The variance in the total amount appropriated to deliver services was due to additional 
funding for additional audit fees to private sector audit contractors in 2009 plus additional 
funding for Office lease costs approved in 2008. The increase in funding is also reflected in the 
increased Total and Net cost of services.

 (iv) significant variances between actuals for 2008 and 2009 – capital contribution.

 

2009  
$’000

2008 
$’000

variation 
$’000

Purchase of non-current physical assets 580 352 228

 Increase in capital expenditure is due to the replacement of laptop computers in the current 
year as part of the planned asset replacement cycle.

nOtes tO the finAnciAl stAteMent fOr the yeAr ended 30 June 2009
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 (v) significant variances between estimate and actual for 2009, and actual for 2008 and 
2009 – Administered income.

 

2009 
estimate

$’000

2009  
Actual 
$’000

 
variation 

$’000
Administered Income 12 657 13 949 (1 292)

 

2009 
Actual
$’000

2008  
Actual 
$’000

 
variation 

$’000
Administered Income 13 949 12 695 1 254

 The variance between 2009 estimate and actual is due to greater than anticipated audit fees 
being generated as a result of additional audit work required at agencies.

 The variance between 2008 and 2009 actuals is due to increased charges to agencies for audit 
work as a result of cost escalation and additional work.

32. finAnciAl instruMents

 (a) financial risk Management Objectives and Policies

 Financial instruments held by the Office are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and 
cash equivalents and receivables and payables. All of the Office’s cash is held in the public bank 
account (non-interest bearing). The Office has limited exposure to financial risks. The Office’s 
overall risk management program focuses on managing the risks identified below.

 Credit risk

 Credit risk arises where there is the possibility of the Office’s receivables defaulting on their 
contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Office. The maximum exposure to 
credit risk at balance sheet date in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the 
gross carrying amount of those assets inclusive of any provisions for impairment as shown in 
the table at note 32 (c) ‘Financial Instruments Disclosures’ and note 13 ‘Receivables’.

 Credit risk associated with the Office’s financial assets is minimal because the main receivable is 
the amounts receivable for services (holding account). For receivables other than government, 
the Office trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. The Office monitors 
receivables balances on an ongoing basis with the result that the Office’s exposure to bad 
debts is minimal. At the balance sheet date there were no significant concentrations of credit 
risk.

 Allowance for impairment of financial assets is calculated based on objective evidence such as 
observable data indicating changes in client credit ratings. For financial assets that are either 
past due or impaired, refer to note 32(c) ‘Financial Instruments Disclosures’.

 Liquidity risk

 Liquidity risk arises when the Office is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. 
The Office is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business.

 The Office has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdowns of 
appropriations by monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure sufficient funds are available to 
meet its commitments.

nOtes tO the finAnciAl stAteMent fOr the yeAr ended 30 June 2009
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32. finAnciAl instruMents (continued)

 Market risk

 Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest 
rates will affect the Office’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The 
Office does not trade in foreign currency and is not materially exposed to other price risks. 
The Office is not exposed to interest rate risk as all cash and cash equivalents are non-interest 
bearing. The Office has no borrowings.

 (b) categories of financial instruments

 In addition to cash, the carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets 
and financial liabilities at the balance sheet date are as follows:

 

financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 1 359 1 649
Receivables 1 085 1 187
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 132 92

2 576 2 928
financial liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 652 1 000

652 1 000

 (c) financial instrument disclosures

 The following table discloses the Office’s maximum exposure to credit risk, liquidity and 
interest rate risk as at the balance sheet date. The Office’s maximum exposure to credit risk at 
the balance sheet date is the carrying amount of financial assets as shown below. The table is 
based on information provided to senior management of the Office.

 The Office does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements relating to the 
financial assets it holds. Also the Office does not hold any financial assets that had to have their 
terms renegotiated that would have otherwise resulted in them being past due or impaired.

 

non-interest
Bearing

$’000
total
$’000

2009
financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 1 359 1 359
Receivables (a) 1 085 1 085
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 132 132

2 576 2 576
financial liabilities
Payables 652 652

652 652

 

non-interest
Bearing

$’000

Carrying 
Amount

$’000
2008
financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 1 649 1 649
Receivables (a) 1 187 1 187
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 92 92

2 928 2 928
financial liabilities
Payables 1 000 1 000

1 000 1 000

 
 (a) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

 fair Values

 All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the balance sheet are recognised as amounts 
that represent a reasonable approximation of fair value.

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

nOtes tO the finAnciAl stAteMent fOr the yeAr ended 30 June 2009
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33. suPPleMentArY finAnciAl infOrMAtiOn

 

Write-Offs
During the financial year $5 860 (2008: Nil) was written off 
the Office’s asset register under the authority of:
The accountable authority 6 0
losses through theft, defaults and Other causes
Losses of public moneys, and public and other property 
through theft or default

0 0

Amount recovered 0 0
Gifts of Public Property
Gifts of public property provided by the Office 0 0

34. AdMinistered eXPenses And incOMe

 

expenses
Receipts paid into Consolidated Account 13 725 12 557
Total administered expenses 13 725 12 557
income
Fees for Audit Service (a) 13 949 12 695
Total administered income 13 949 12 695

35. AdMinistered Assets And liABilities

 

current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 85 42
Receivables and accrued fees (a) (b) 4 741 4 514
total Administered current Assets 4 826 4 556

current liabilities
GST payable 61 17
total Administered current liabilities 61 17

 Notes to Administered Items

 (a) Fees for audit services in 2009 includes accrued fees valued at $4 236 970 
(2008: $4 303 904). Accrued fees are calculated in accordance with the percentage of 
audit completed as at 30 June 2009. The percentage of audit completed is measured 
by reference to labour hours incurred to the balance sheet date as a percentage of the 
estimated total audit hours.

 (b) Administered income received is returned to the Treasurer, net of GST, and banked into the 
Consolidated Account.

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

nOtes tO the finAnciAl stAteMent fOr the yeAr ended 30 June 2009

2009
$’000

2008
$’000
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Office Of the AuditOr GenerAl

certificAtiOn Of PerfOrMAnce indicAtOrs

for the year ended 30 June 2009

key PerfOrMAnce indicAtOrs

I hereby certify that the performance indicators are based on proper records, are relevant and appropriate for assisting users to 

assess the Office of the Auditor General’s performance, and fairly represent the performance of the Office for the financial year 

ended 30 June 2009.

COLIN MURPHY

ACCOUNTABLE AUTHORITY

18 August 2009
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indePendent AuditOr’s OPiniOn – PerfOrMAnce indicAtOrs fOr yeAr ended 30 June 2009

 

 
 
INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT 
TO THE PARLIAMENT OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA 
 
OFFICE OF THE AUDITOR GENERAL 
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2009 
 
 
SCOPE 
 
I have audited the key effectiveness and efficiency performance indicators of the Office of the Auditor General for the year ended 30 June 2009 
under the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 and Auditor General Act 2006. 
 
The Accountable Authority is responsible for developing and maintaining proper records and systems for preparing and presenting performance 
indicators.  I have conducted an audit of the key performance indicators in order to express an opinion on them to the Parliament as required by the 
Act. 
 
My audit was performed in accordance with section 40 of the Auditor General Act 2006 to form an opinion based on a reasonable level of 
assurance.  The audit procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and other disclosures the performance 
indicators, and assessing the relevance and appropriateness of the performance indicators in assisting users to assess the performance of the 
Office of the Auditor General.  These procedures have been undertaken to form an opinion as to whether, in all material respects, the performance 
indicators are relevant and appropriate having regard to their purpose and fairly represent the indicated performance. 
 
The audit opinion expressed below has been formed on the above basis. 
 
AUDIT OPINION 
 
In my opinion, the key effectiveness and efficiency performance indicators of the Office of the Auditor General are relevant and appropriate for 
assisting users to assess the Office’s performance and fairly represent the indicated performance for the year ended 30 June 2009. 
 
 
 
 
 
BENTLEYS CHRIS WATTS 
Chartered Accountants Director 
 
DATED at PERTH this 18th day of August 2009	
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key PerfOrMAnce indicAtOrs

The Office of the Auditor General exists to serve the public interest by providing Parliament 
with independent and impartial information regarding public sector accountability and 
performance. This Office reports directly to Parliament and ultimately the people of Western 
Australia.

Our desired outcome, ‘an informed Parliament on public sector accountability and 
performance’, is broadly linked to the government goal for financial and economic 
responsibility - Responsibly managing the state’s finances through the efficient and effective delivery 
of services, encouraging economic activity and reducing regulatory burdens on the private sector.

key effectiveness PerfOrMAnce indicAtOrs
The key effectiveness performance indicators measure the extent to which performance 
auditing contributes to improved public sector accountability and performance as perceived 
by the Auditor General’s principal client, Parliament. 

The key effectiveness performance indicators are:

n	agreement in parliamentary survey that the Office of the Auditor General is effective in 
achieving its desired outcome of informing Parliament on public sector accountability and 
performance of the public sector

n	agreement in parliamentary survey that the reports dealt with matters of significance to 
Parliament

n	agreement in parliamentary survey that the services and reports of the Office of the 
Auditor General are useful to Parliament

The survey of all Members of Parliament is administered by an independent consultant and the 
results do not identify individual respondents.

Ninety-three Members of Parliament were invited to participate in the 2009 survey. Follow-ups 
were made until a satisfactory response rate was achieved. This year’s response rate of 
44 per cent is consistent with the response rate of 45 per cent for 2007-08 and is considered 
statistically reliable, and in line with response rates for similar surveys conducted in other 
Australian jurisdictions.

The data for this year’s survey has again been weighted by government/non-government 
status. The percentage results were calculated for each question for each group. The results 
were then aggregated by multiplying the group results by the share of the parliamentary 
population accounted for by the group. The weighted data is therefore a weighted average of 
the raw data grouped by government/non-government status.

The table below shows the percentage of respondents to the survey who ‘agreed’ or ‘strongly 
agreed’ with the statement indicated.

indicator 2005-06 
Actual 

%

2006-07 
Actual 

%

2007-08 
Actual 

%

2008-09
target

%

2008-09 
Actual 

%

The Office of the Auditor General is 
effective in achieving its desired outcome 
of informing Parliament on public sector 
accountability and performance of the 
public sector

92 78 90 80 91

Reports dealt with matters of significance 
to Parliament 85 89 94 90 93

Services and reports of the Office of the 
Auditor General are useful to Parliament 89 89 90 90 91

table 16

The results demonstrate that this Office is continuing to contribute to improved public sector 
accountability and performance.
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key efficiency PerfOrMAnce indicAtOrs
The key efficiency performance indicators measure the overall efficiency in achieving the 
desired outcome, ‘an informed Parliament on public sector accountability and performance’. 
They incorporate the cost and quantity of the Office’s service of performance auditing.

Quantity measures used to calculate key efficiency indicators are extracted from the Office’s 
Practice Management System and departmental files. The total cost for 2008-09 has been 
derived from the Office’s Financial Management Information System. 

Our efficiency is measured by:

n	average cost per matter of significance

n	average cost per major audit

n	average cost per other audit 

Matters of significance – these are the key findings contained in reports submitted to 
Parliament. ‘Key findings’ are defined as those issues a general parliamentary reader would 
take away from a report after the detail of specific findings have receded into the background. 
Matters of significance are included in all the Auditor General’s reports tabled in Parliament 
under s24 and s25 of the Auditor General Act 2006. 

Draft matters of significance are subject to internal review and the final matters of significance 
are determined by the Auditor General. Generally, matters of significance are identified in the 
report’s executive summary and listed as key findings in the body of the report.

cost per audit – a single, overall ‘cost per audit’ would not be a particularly useful key 
efficiency indicator because of the variation in the size and complexity of the Office’s clients. 
Therefore, two average costs are calculated:

n	major audits – the largest and/or more complex and sensitive financial audits. These 
agencies cover approximately 96 per cent of state assets.

n	other audits – the remaining smaller, less complex and/or sensitive financial audits.

The following table shows the average cost against the three key efficiency performance 
indicators since 2005-06.

efficiency 2005-06
Actual

$

2006-07
Actual

$

2007-08
Actual

$

2008-09
target

$

2008-09
Actual

$

Average cost per matter of significance 29 600 32 522 47 750 51 665 41 580

Average cost per major audit 134 979 137 039 154 352 163 101 162 768

Average cost per other audit 23 192 25 646 27 349 27 987 30 389

table 17

The average cost per matters of significance is 20 per cent less than the target for this year and 
13 per cent less than the average cost for 2007-08. This is primarily a result of a higher than 
expected number of matters of significance identified during our audit process. The number 
reported to Parliament in 2008-09 was 36 per cent greater than the number reported in 
2007-08 and 42 per cent higher than was anticipated for this period.

key PerfOrMAnce indicAtOrs
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efficiency Performance indicators

New efficiency performance indicators will be used from 2009-10 and will replace the existing 
indicators, ‘cost per matter of significance’ and ‘cost per major/other audit’. The new indicators 
will be introduced because they contain less potential for bias then existing indicators.

The new indicators will measure the cost of audits and examinations relative to government 
expenditure. 

Note: The government expenditure value will incorporate public sector expenditure together 
with expenditure by universities, superannuation boards and other entities whose expenditure 
is not reported within government expenditure.

indicative results 

Although the new efficiency performance indicators do not apply until 2009-10, for illustrative 
purposes we have shown our performance against this new indicator for 2008-09.

efficiency indicator target  
2008-09

Actual  
2008-09

Total audit cost per $m of 
gross government expenditure

$593 $579

Assurance audit cost per $m of  
gross government expenditure

$445 $434

Performance examination cost per $m of  
gross government expenditure

$148 $145

table 18

effectiveness Performance indicators

A new effectiveness performance indicator will be used from 2009-10 and will replace the 
existing effectiveness indicator. The new indicator will show the extent to which Parliament has 
been informed about public sector accountability and performance against four categories 
that are meaningful in terms of public sector accountability and performance.

The indicator measures the number of audit reports tabled in Parliament against each of these 
categories.

To enable our performance to be assessed, we have established a three-year rolling target for 
each of the four categories of reports and a total for all reports tabled. Our three-year target for 
the period commencing 2009-10 is 54 reports.

indicative results 

Outcome: An informed Parliament on public sector accountability and performance.

Indicator: The extent that the Office of the Auditor General is effective in informing Parliament 
about public sector accountability and performance, measured by the number of tabled 
reports compared to target and the following categories of matters about which Parliament 
has been informed. 

The table below shows our three-year target from 2009-10 to 2001-12 and for illustrative 
purposes includes our actual performance for the two preceding years.

Report type 2007-08 
Actual

2008-09 
Actual

2009–10 
target

2010–11 
target

2011-12 
target

target 
over  

3 years
Service Delivery 3 2 4 4 4 12

Economic Development 1 4 3 3 3 9

Social and Environment 5 3 3 4 4 11

Governance 7 8 8 7 7 22

Year total 16 17 18 18 18 54
table 19

future directiOns – neW PerfOrMAnce indicAtOrs fOr 2009-10
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Other finAnciAl disclOsures

seniOr Officers
At the date of reporting, other than normal contracts of employment of service, no senior 
officers, or firms of which senior officers are members, or entities in which senior officers have 
any substantial interests, had any interests in existing or proposed contracts with the Office and 
senior officers.

Other eMPlOyMent
Under Schedule 1, Clause 3 of the AG Act, the Auditor General must not, except so far as 
authorised by law or by resolutions of both Houses of Parliament, hold certain offices, places or 
positions referred to in the Constitution Acts Amendment Act 1899. The Schedule also prohibits 
the Auditor General from engaging in any paid employment outside the duties of the Office of 
the Auditor General.

At no time while acting as the Auditor General or since my appointment to that office have I 
engaged in any paid employment outside the duties of my office. I am also a member of the 
State Records Commission, as authorised by the State Records Act 2000, section 58n (a).

PricinG POlicies
The Office’s fee model invoices agencies only for financial audits, although our fees incorporate 
a loading to recover one-third of our compliance and controls audit work.

The fees are based on the hours required to do each financial audit. Where a contractor 
conducts the audit on the Office’s behalf, the Office’s fees are based on the contractor’s fees.

The model also assumes:

n	 full recovery of identified overheads with these costs being spread over all financial audit 
engagements

n	 annual adjustment for inflation and cost pressures arising from salary increases and other 
expenses.

cAPitAl WOrks
During 2008-09 the Office continued with its ongoing asset replacement program. The 
replacement of the Office’s laptops ($270 000) and upgrades to servers ($85 000) provided 
improved information technology hardware to support the ongoing improvement in 
the Office’s information systems. As part of this improvement, the Office finalised the 
implementation of the eTrack Practice Management System ($117 000) and commenced the 
initial planning to replace the existing audit methodology software which has reached the end 
of its useful life.

The Office continued to seek innovative ways to meet community and stakeholder 
expectations in terms of access to reports and information regarding our activities. As part of 
this a major upgrade of the Office’s internet and intranet software was undertaken, with further 
changes to the internet portal to be completed in 2009-10.
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Other leGAl reQuireMents

stAteMent Of cOMPliAnce With disAbility services Act 1993
The Office of the Auditor General is committed to ensuring that people with disabilities have 
the same access to our services, information and facilities by implementing the strategies and 
initiatives identified in the Office’s Disability Access and Inclusion Plan (DAIP) through the six 
desired outcomes:  

Outcome 1: People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people to access 
our services and events.

Outcome 2: People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people to access 
our offices.

Outcome 3: People with disabilities receive information from us in a format that will enable 
them to access the information as readily as other people.

Outcome 4: People with disabilities receive the same level and quality of service from our 
employees as other people receive.

Outcome 5: People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people to make 
complaints to us.

Outcome 6: People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people to 
participate in any public consultation we may carry out.

The following strategies were progressed by the Office in 2008-09:

n	 incorporated the objectives of the DAIP into our strategic business planning, budgeting 
processes, procedures and policies

n	 ensured that our signage is clear and easy to read and that our offices are accessible and 
meet the legislative and access standards for accessibility

n	 established a process for ensuring that, when requested, specialist support is made 
available at meetings with the client

n	 provided alternative formats for reports such as large print on request

n	 improved employee awareness of disability and access issues by promoting through 
induction programs and publishing the DAIP on the intranet

n	 provided access to the Macquarie Dictionary on the intranet which includes a link to 
assist with the pronunciation of words.

stAteMent Of cOMPliAnce With electOrAl Act 1907 
sectiOn 175Ze (AdvertisinG)
In accordance with section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907, this Office is required to report on 
expenditure incurred during the financial year in relation to advertising.

Expenditure during 2008-09 related to advertising for job vacancies; the conduct of agency 
and parliamentary surveys; the Office’s contribution to the macro benchmarking survey of the 
Australasian Council of Auditors-General (ACAG); and focus group research for performance 
examinations. The details are as follows:

Advertising agencies

Adcorp Marketing Communications $16 006.09

Big Red Sky Ltd $500.00

Marketforce Express $362.81

Recruitment – costs of representation at recruitment event

Institute of Chartered Accountants of Australia $700.00

market research organisations

Orima Research Pty Ltd $42 555.45

total expenditure $60 124.35
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stAteMent Of cOMPliAnce With the Public sectOr 
MAnAGeMent Act 1994 sectiOn 31(1)
1. In the administration of the Office of the Auditor General, I have complied with the Public 

Sector Standards in Human Resource Management, the Western Australian Public Sector 
Code of Ethics and our Code of Conduct.

2. I have put in place procedures designed to ensure such compliance and conducted 
appropriate internal assessments to satisfy myself that the statement made in 1 is correct.

3. The applications made for breach of standards review and the corresponding outcomes 
for the reporting period are:

 Number lodged: nil

 Number of breaches found, including details of  
multiple breaches per application nil

 Number still under review: nil

COLIN MURPHY
AUDITOR GENERAL
27 August 2009

stAteMent Of cOMPliAnce With the stAte recOrds 
Act 2000, sectiOn 61 And stAte recOrds cOMMissiOn 
stAndArds, stAndArd 2, PrinciPle 6
The Office of the Auditor General has a five-year Recordkeeping Plan that was approved by 
the State Records Commissioner in October 2008. The Commission stated that the amended 
plan “demonstrates progress towards better practice recordkeeping and compliance with 
the minimum requirements of SRC Standards 2: Recordkeeping Plans and SRC Standards 6: 
Outsourcing”.

The Plan will be reviewed again in five years’ time and a report of the review is to be submitted 
to the State Records Office by 10 October 2013.

Training in the usage of TRIM Context, the Office’s Electronic Documents and Records 
Management System, is included as part of our induction process. Additional individual training 
is available when required. This year we have also evaluated and purchased an online training 
tool specifically to address Records Awareness Training. This self-paced innovative learning tool 
will be implemented in 2009-10.

An important element of this training tool is the facility to provide reports that will identify 
knowledge gaps, allowing us to concentrate training in specific areas.

Other leGAl reQuireMents

BACK | Contents | FoRWARD



64  |  Auditor General Western Australia  |  ANNUAL REPORT 2008–2009

GOvernMent POlicy reQuireMents

cOrruPtiOn PreventiOn
The Office of the Auditor General is committed to operating with a high level of integrity and 
transparency in all aspects of our business.

Our commitment is communicated to staff through various means and we employ a range of 
initiatives to increase the level of awareness and reduce the risk of corruption and misconduct.

Our Code of Conduct outlines and establishes a high standard of conduct in line with public 
expectations of integrity and accountability. The Code of Conduct is available to staff through 
our intranet and forms part of the induction process for new employees, This document clearly 
outlines the consequences of non-compliance and presents information and direction for the 
reporting of misconduct or corrupt behaviour.

Due to the importance we place on this aspect, we ensure that internal policies are maintained 
which address all aspects including identification, reporting and management of misconduct 
and corruption risks. These policies are incorporated into our risk management planning 
and endorsed by the Office Consultative Committee. In addition, we take the opportunity to 
remind staff of our policies regularly at staff forums and professional development training 
events.

Staff members are required to sign an annual declaration to renew their commitment to, and 
understanding of, the values and practices that we require. The declaration form requires 
that the staff member is familiar with the WA Public Sector Code of Ethics, the Office Code of 
Conduct, the Public Sector Management Act (1994), and relevant sections of the Auditor General 
Act 2006 and the Financial Management Act 2006.

This year the Office engaged an external provider to facilitate training on ethics and 
accountability, developed specifically to address the issues pertinent to the activities of this 
Office. All staff members will complete the training early in the new financial year.

OccuPAtiOnAl sAfety And heAlth And inJury 
MAnAGeMent cOMPliAnce
The Office of the Auditor General is committed to providing and maintaining a safe and 
healthy work environment for all employees and visitors to our premises. We acknowledge 
and discharge our responsibilities under the Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984 and the 
Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981. 

Polices and procedures on Occupational Safety and Health and Injury Management are 
available to all employees on the staff intranet.

In 2008-09 no fatalities or injuries were recorded.

MechAnisM fOr cOnsultAtiOn With eMPlOyees
The Office supports a consultative environment whereby managers, employees, safety and 
health representatives and other stakeholders work together to identify and resolve any 
occupational safety and health issues in the workplace. Our employees are encouraged to be 
proactive in identifying potential hazards as well as suggesting improvements to practices and 
procedures. The safety and health representative location and details are communicated to all 
employees and is an effective mechanism for the reporting of occupational safety and health 
issues.

During 2008-09 the Office has continued to engage the services of an Employee Assistance 
Program, provided an annual flu shot for all employees, offered an ergonomic assessment to all 
existing and new employees and provided occupational safety and health training for newly 
elected representatives. All new employees to the Office receive an induction which clearly 
defines their obligations and responsibilities under the occupational health and safety and 
injury management policies.
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inJury MAnAGeMent
The Office has established an injury management policy which outlines the steps to be taken 
to assist a worker to return to work following a work related injury or illness. Its focus is on a safe 
and early return to meaningful work in accordance with the Workers’ Compensation and Injury 
Management Act 1981. This policy is made available to our employees on the staff intranet. 

OccuPAtiOnAl sAfety And heAlth MAnAGeMent systeMs 
self-evAluAtiOn
The Office has an Office Consultative Committee and a very active Risk Management 
Committee. Our employees can report any concerns of a health and safety perspective to 
both these committees. We are looking to formalise an office Occupational Safety and Health 
Committee in 2009-10. Once this committee is appointed, we will conduct a self-evaluation 
using an audit tool compliant with Australian Standard – AS 4801:2000.

The following table details our 2008-09 key performance indicators against the following 
targets:

Workers’ compensation key performance indicators/targets

indicators 2008–09 targets Results

Number of fatalities 0 0

Lost time injury/diseases (LTI/D) incident rate
0 or 10% reduction on 

previous year
0

Lost time injury severity rate
0 or 10% improvement 

on previous year
0

Percentage of injured workers returned to work within 28 
weeks

100% N/A

Percentage of managers trained in occupational safety, 
health and injury management responsibilities

greater than or equal 
to 50%

8%

table 20

The Office is aware of the importance of adequately training managers in occupational safety 
and health and injury management and seeks to take advantage of courses provided by Risk 
Cover in this area. Due to a high turnover of managers in the last two years, the percentage of 
managers trained in the subject is low. With a more stable workforce now in place, we will be 
working towards improving these figures in 2009–10.

GOvernMent POlicy reQuireMents
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Audits under finAnciAl 
MAnAGeMent Act

departments
Administration of the Legislative Assembly
Administration of the Legislative Council
Commissioner for Equal Opportunity
*Department for Child Protection
*Department for Communities
*Department for Planning and Infrastructure 
*Department of Agriculture and Food
*Department of the Attorney General
*Department of Commerce, formerly Department 

of Consumer and Employment Protection
*Department of Corrective Services
*Department of Culture and the Arts
*Department of Education and Training
Department of Education Services
*Department of Environment and Conservation
*Department of Fisheries
*Department of Health
Department of Housing, formerly Department of 

Housing and Works 
*Department of Indigenous Affairs
Department of Local Government and Regional 

Development
*Department of Mines and Petroleum, formerly 

Department of Industry and Resources 
Department of Parliamentary Services
*Department of Racing, Gaming and Liquor
Department of Sport and Recreation
*Department of State Development

*Department of the Premier and Cabinet
Department of the Registrar, Western Australian 

Industrial Relations Commission
*Department of Treasury and Finance
Department of Water
Governor’s Establishment
Office of Energy
Office of the Commissioner for Children and 

Young People
Office of the Director of Public Prosecutions
Office of the Information Commissioner
Office of the Inspector of Custodial Services 
Office of the Public Sector Standards 

Commissioner
Parliamentary Commissioner for Administrative 

Investigations
*Public Sector Commission
*Western Australian Police Service
Western Australian Electoral Commission

statutory Authorities
Agricultural Practices Board of Western Australia
Agricultural Produce Commission
Animal Resources Authority
Armadale Redevelopment Authority
Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority 
Building and Construction Industry Training Board
Bunbury Water Board
Busselton Water Board
*Central TAFE 
Central West TAFE
*Challenger TAFE 

Coal Industry Superannuation Board
*Commissioner of Main Roads
Construction Industry Long Service Leave 

Payments Board
Corruption and Crime Commission
Country High School Hostels Authority
Country Housing Authority
Curriculum Council
*Curtin University of Technology
C Y O’Connor College of TAFE
*Disability Services Commission
East Perth Redevelopment Authority
Economic Regulation Authority
*Edith Cowan University
*Fire and Emergency Services Authority of Western 

Australia 
Fire and Emergency Services Superannuation 

Board
*Forest Products Commission 
Gaming and Wagering Commission of Western 

Australia
Gascoyne Development Commission
*Gold Corporation
Goldfields-Esperance Development Commission
*Government Employees Superannuation Board
Great Southern Development Commission
Great Southern TAFE
Heritage Council of Western Australia
*Housing Authority
*Insurance Commission of Western Australia
Keep Australia Beautiful Council (WA)
Kimberley Development Commission

Kimberley TAFE
Landcare Trust
Law Reform Commission of Western Australia
Legal Aid Commission of Western Australia
Legal Contribution Trust
Legal Costs Committee
Local Health Authorities Analytical Committee
*Lotteries Commission
Medical Board of Western Australia
Metropolitan Cemeteries Board
Midland Redevelopment Authority 
Mid West Development Commission
Minerals and Energy Research Institute of Western 

Australia
*Murdoch University
Office of Health Review
Parliamentary Inspector of the Corruption and 

Crime Commission
Peel Development Commission
Perth Market Authority
Perth Theatre Trust
Pilbara Development Commission
Pilbara TAFE
Potato Marketing Corporation of Western Australia
Professional Combat Sports Commission
Professional Standards Council
*Public Transport Authority of Western Australia
*Public Trustee
Quadriplegic Centre Board
*Racing and Wagering Western Australia

Audit clients (At 30 June 2009)
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Racing Penalties Appeal Tribunal of Western 
Australia

Real Estate and Business Agents Supervisory Board
*Rottnest Island Authority
Rural Business Development Corporation
Screen West (Inc.)
Settlement Agents Supervisory Board
Small Business Development Corporation
South West Development Commission
South West Regional College of TAFE
State Government Insurance Corporation
State Supply Commission
Subiaco Redevelopment Authority
Swan Bells Foundation Inc
Swan River Trust
*Swan TAFE
The Aboriginal Affairs Planning Authority
The Agriculture Protection Board of Western 

Australia
The Anzac Day Trust
The Board of the Art Gallery of Western Australia
The Burswood Park Board
The Coal Miners’ Welfare Board of Western Australia
The Eastern Goldfields Transport Board (Final Audit 

to 28/07/2008)
The Library Board of Western Australia
*The Minister for Health in his capacity as the 

Deemed Board of Metropolitan Public Hospitals
The National Trust of Australia (WA)
The Queen Elizabeth II Medical Centre Trust
*The University of Western Australia
The Western Australian Museum

Trustees of the Public Education Endowment
*WA Country Health Service
West Coast TAFE
Western Australian Alcohol and Drug Authority
Western Australian Building Management 

Authority
Western Australian Coastal Shipping Commission
Western Australian Gas Disputes Arbitrator 
Western Australian Greyhound Racing Association
Western Australian Health Promotion Foundation
Western Australian Institute of Sport
*Western Australian Land Information Authority
Western Australian Meat Industry Authority
Western Australian Planning Commission
Western Australian Sports Centre Trust
*Western Australian Tourism Commission
*Western Australian Treasury Corporation
Wheatbelt Development Commission
WorkCover Western Australia Authority
Zoological Gardens Authority

subsidiaries
ECU Resources for Learning Ltd
Homeswest Loan Scheme Trust
Innovative Chiropractic Learning Pty Ltd
Keystart Bonds Limited
*Keystart Housing Scheme Trust
Keystart Loans Limited
Keystart Support (Subsidiary) Pty Ltd
Keystart Support Pty Ltd
Keystart Support Trust
MS Biotechnology Pty Ltd (Dormant)

Murdoch Investments Company Pty Ltd
MurdochLink Pty Ltd
Murdoch Retirement Services Ltd
Murdoch University Foundation
Murdoch University Veterinary Centre Trust
Murdoch Ventures Pty Ltd 
The University Club of Western Australia Pty Ltd
The University Company Pty Ltd (Dormant)
UWA Business School Executive Program Ltd
WA Mint Pty Ltd (Dormant)
Wind Energy Corporation Pty Ltd (Dormant) 

request Audits
Friends of the WCHS Inc
Government House Foundation of Western 

Australia (Inc)
Ngala Inc
SB Investment Trust
Sir Charles Gairdner Hospital Foundation Trust
Sir Charles Gairdner Research Foundation Inc
South West Cogeneration Joint Venture
Tertiary Institutions Service Centre (Inc)
The Director of Legal Aid and Others in Trust

Audits under Other 
leGislAtiOn

cemeteries
Albany Cemetery Board
Bunbury Cemetery Board
Chowerup Cemetery Board
Dwellingup Cemetery Board
Geraldton Cemetery Board
Kalgoorlie-Boulder Cemetery Board
South Caroling Cemetery Board

Port Authorities
Albany Port Authority
Broome Port Authority 
Bunbury Port Authority
Dampier Port Authority
Esperance Port Authority
*Fremantle Port Authority
Geraldton Port Authority
Port Hedland Port Authority

Other
*Annual Report on State Finances
*Horizon Power
Independent Market Operator
*Synergy
*Verve Energy
*Water Corporation
*Western Australian Land Authority
*Western Power – Networks

* Major audit clients

Audit clients (At 30 June 2009)
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Accountability is traditionally established when 
Parliament confers responsibility on public sector 
agencies to account through a Minister of the Crown 
for all that is done in the exercise of their authority, the 
manner in which it is done and the ends sought to be 
achieved.
Accrual Accounting provides information on 
revenues earned and expenditure incurred in an 
accounting period irrespective of when actual cash 
transactions occur (ie when money is received or paid). 
It also involves accounting for the portion of assets 
consumed and liabilities incurred during the period 
and provides a summary of the net worth of the entity 
at the end of the accounting period.
Agency means a department, a sub-department or a 
statutory authority.
Annual report on state finances is a report 
prepared in accordance with the Government Financial 
Responsibility Act 2000 that provides the State’s public 
sector financial results for the budget year and outlines 
material differences between these results and the 
financial projections contained in the State Budget for 
that budget year.
Attest Audit is work performed to enable an opinion 
to be expressed regarding a report about financial 
or performance matters prepared by the party who 
is accountable for the financial transactions or the 
performance summary.
Audit includes to examine, investigate, inspect and 
review.
Auditor General’s report is the vehicle used 
to report to Parliament the results of audits and 
examinations conducted under sections 12 to 20 of 
the Auditor General Act 2006.
Australian equivalents to international 
financial reporting standards (Aifrs) are 
Accounting Standards issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board (AASB) that are 
equivalent to Accounting Standards issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

controls, compliance and Accountability 
examinations (ccAs) focus on financial 
administration and management issues with the 
objective of identifying opportunities for improving 
agencies’ operational performance, accountability, use 
of resources and compliance with legislation.
corporatised entities operate under enabling 
legislation in a similar manner to companies under the 
Corporations Act 2001.
department means a body established or deemed 
to have been established under the Public Sector 
Management Act 1994.
direct reporting is an examination resulting in 
a written report being prepared where the party 
responsible for the matter examined has not been 
significantly involved in initiating or preparing the 
report.
effectiveness indicators are performance indicators 
that provide information on the extent to which 
agency level government desired outcomes have 
been achieved, or contributed to, through the delivery 
of services. 
efficiency indicators are performance indicators 
that generally relate services to the level of resource 
inputs required to deliver them.
entrance interviews are formal meetings with senior 
management conducted during the audit planning 
phase to provide the opportunity to canvass with 
management issues of importance and to explore the 
proposed audit emphasis and areas of coverage.
exit interviews are formal meetings with senior 
management at the penultimate stage of audits 
and examinations to confirm understandings and to 
explain audit findings and conclusions.
financial statements are a presentation of financial 
information including explanatory notes derived from 
accounting records to communicate for a period of 
time an entity’s financial performance and cash flows, 
and at a point of time its financial position.

follow-up examination Performance examinations 
are routinely followed up two to three years after 
tabling to review what has been done. A follow-on 
examination is a more extensive follow-up 
examination where a topic still has significant 
importance and relevance.
Management letter is a letter to senior 
management that conveys the significant audit 
findings and result of an audit.
Materiality is the magnitude of an omission 
or misstatement of accounting or performance 
information that, in the light of context or 
circumstances, makes it probable that the judgment of 
a reasonable person relying on the information would 
have been changed or influenced.
Matters of significance (Mos) are the ‘key messages’ 
in Auditor General’s reports. ‘Key messages’ are defined 
as the issues a general parliamentary reader would 
take away from the report after the detail of specific 
findings and recommendations has receded into the 
background.
Outcomes are the effect, impact, result of or 
consequence for the community, environment or 
target clients of government services.
Performance Auditing encompasses the range 
of audit and review activities from annual attest 
audit work on financial statements and performance 
indicators through to the preparation of direct reports 
on performance examinations.
Performance examination (Pe) is work performed 
in examining the accountability, efficiency and 
effectiveness of public sector agencies or specific areas 
within an agency or across a number of government 
agencies.
Performance indicator (Pi) is information about 
service performance or outcome achievement.
Performance indicator Audit is work performed to 
enable an opinion to be expressed about whether or 
not the indicators are relevant and appropriate having 
regard to their purpose and fairly represent indicated 
performance.

Qualified Audit Opinion is expressed when the 
audit identified that the financial statements or 
performance indicators are likely to be misleading to 
users, controls were inadequate, there was material 
conflict between applicable financial reporting 
frameworks or an unavoidable limitation on audit 
work.
service means the supply of an activity or good to 
a user external to the entity providing the service. 
Services comprise programs and outputs.
significance is the relative importance in the 
circumstances, in relation to audit objectives, of an 
item, event or information, or problem the auditor 
identifies.
statutory Authority means a person or body 
specified in Schedule 1 of the Financial Management 
Act 2006. These agencies are established by Parliament 
under legislation for specified purposes.
sub-department means an entity in respect 
of which a declaration under section 56(2) of the 
Financial Management Act 2006 has effect.
treasurer’s instructions are prescribed 
requirements at a minimum level with respect to 
financial administration that have the force of law and 
must be observed by public sector agencies under the 
Financial Management Act 2006.
unqualified Audit Opinion is expressed when 
the audit concludes that in all material respects the 
financial statements and performance indicators 
are presented fairly in accordance with the enabling 
legislation of the agency, Australian Accounting 
Standards (including the Australian Accounting 
Interpretations) and the Treasurer’s Instructions.
Working Papers are documents that record the 
auditor’s planning, audit procedures performed, the 
auditor’s findings and the conclusions drawn from the 
audit evidence obtained.

GlOssAry Of terMs
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Office directOry (At 27 AuGust 2009)

AuditOr GenerAl’s Office
Colin Murphy 9222 7501 

Auditor General

Peta Mullane 9222 7502 
Executive Officer

Glen Clarke 9222 7543 
Deputy Auditor General

Molly Elympos 9222 7506 
Executive Assistant

AssurAnce services divisiOn
Don Cunninghame 9222 7526 

Assistant Auditor General

Peter Sparkes 9222 3906 
Director

Vince Turco 9222 7515 
Director

Patrick Arulsingham 9222 3944 
Director

Liang Wong 9222 7542 
A/Director

cOMPliAnce And infOrMAtiOn systeMs 
divisiOn
Colin Campbell 9222 3937 

Assistant Auditor General

Peter Bouhlas 9222 7522 
Director, Information Systems

Alan Charlton 9222 7523 
Director, Compliance Audit

PerfOrMAnce revieW divisiOn
Jason Beeley 9222 7579 

Assistant Auditor General

Linda Barker (on secondment to British Columbia, Canada) 
Director

David Reid 9222 7549 
Director

Sue Paterson 9222 3920 
A/Director

stAndArds And QuAlity divisiOn
David Gilchrist 9222 7573 

Assistant Auditor General

Barry Rowe 9222 7503 
Director Standards

Ian Goldsmith 9222 7559 
Director Standards and Quality

Rod Berg 9222 7591 
Principal Adviser  
Performance Indicator Standards

Michelle Bunn 9222 7571 
Executive Officer/Analyst 
Planning and Coordination

Mandy Murray 9222 7564 
Manager, Professional Development

strAteGy, POlicy And cOrPOrAte 
services divisiOn
Sadie Godfrey 9222 7557 

Assistant Auditor General

Thelma Fermo 9222 7504 
Executive Assistant

David Parrick 9222 7590 
Manager, Financial and  
Administrative Resources

Vince Partridge 9222 7508 
Manager, Information Resources

Marcia van Zeller 9222 7558 
Manager, Communications

Paula Skittlethorpe 9222 7572 
Manager, Human Resource
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